

SUBSTANCE USE QANUILIRPITAA? 2017

Nunavik Inuit Health Survey





SUBSTANCE USE

QANUILIRPITAA? 2017

Nunavik Inuit Health Survey







Nunavik Regional Board of Health and Social Services P.O Box 900 Kuujjuaq, (Quebec) JOM 1C0 Phone number: 819-964-2222 Toll-free: 1 844-964-2244

Email: info@sante-services-sociaux.ca Website: nrbhss.ca/en/health-surveys

Legal deposit - November 2020 Bibliothèque et Archives nationales du Québec ISBN: 978-2-924662-19-9 (PDF)

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ Nunavik Regional Board of Health and Social Services – 2020

AUTHORS

Richard E. Bélanger, MD, FRCPC

Co-Principal investigator – youth cohort Department of Pediatrics, Faculty of Medicine, Université Laval Population Health and Optimal Health Practices Research Unit, Centre de recherche du CHU de Québec – Université Laval

Gina Muckle, PhD, Professor

Co-Principal Investigator – youth cohort School of Psychology, Faculty of Social Sciences, Université Laval Population Health and Optimal Health Practices Research Unit, Centre de recherche du CHU de Québec – Université Laval

Yohann Courtemanche, MSc, Planning, Programming and Research Officer

Population Health and Optimal Health Practices Research Unit, Centre de recherche du CHU de Québec – Université Laval

Natalia Poliakova, PhD, Planning, Programming and Research Officer

Population Health and Optimal Health Practices Research Unit, Centre de recherche du CHU de Québec – Université Laval

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Marc-André Dubé, Scientific Advisor

Bureau d'information et d'études en santé des populations Institut National de Santé Publique du Québec

Véronique Boiteau, Scientific Advisor

Bureau d'information et d'études en santé des populations Institut National de Santé Publique du Québec

SCIENTIFIC EDITING

Marie-Josée Gauthier, Planning, Programming and Research Officer Public Health Department Nunavik Regional Board of Health and Social Services

Susie Gagnon, Scientific Advisor Bureau d'information et d'études en santé des populations Institut national de santé publique du Québec

COMMUNICATION

Nunavik Regional Board of Health ans Social Services

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Danielle St-Laurent Bureau d'information et d'études en santé des populations Institut national de santé publique du Québec

SCIENTIFIC DIRECTORS

Pierre Ayotte, PhD, Professor

Department of Social and Preventive Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Université Laval Population Health and Optimal Health Practices Research Unit, Centre de recherche du CHU de Québec – Université Laval Environmental health and toxicology, Institut national de santé publique du Québec

Françoise Bouchard, MD, MPH, FRCPC, Director of Public Health Nunavik Regional Board Health and Social Services

LINGUISTIC REVISION

Alison McGain

VISUAL CREATION

Alphatek

SUGGESTED CITATION

Bélanger, R., Muckle, G., Courtemanche, Y., Poliakova, N. (2020). *Substance Use*. Nunavik Inuit Health Survey 2017 *Qanuilirpitaa*? How are we now? Quebec: Nunavik Regional Board of Health and Social Services (NRBHSS) & Institut national de santé publique du Québec (INSPQ).

QANUILIRPITAA? 2017 HEALTH SURVEY ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

On behalf of the Steering Committee, I would like to express my gratitude to all Nunavimmiut who participated in the *Qanuilirpitaa*? 2017 Health Survey.

This important health survey was made possible thanks to the long-lasting partnership between the Nunavik Regional Board of Health and Social Services, the *Institut national de santé publique du Québec* and researchers from the Centre de recherche du CHU de Québec – Université Laval, McGill University and Trent University.

The valuable contribution of Inuit research advisors, leaders from each community, as well as representatives from the Avataq Cultural Institute, the Ungava Tulattavik Health Centre, the Inuulitsivik Health Centre, the Kativik Regional Government, Kativik Ilisarniliriniq, Makivik Corporation, the northern villages and the Qarjuit Youth Council is gratefully acknowledged. The Steering Committee and the Data Management Committee of *Qanuilirpitaa*? 2017 guided and enriched this work throughout the different phases, from planning to data interpretation and contextualization.

We want to highlight the invaluable contribution of Pierre Ayotte and Françoise Bouchard, the scientific directors, and Danielle St-Laurent, the project's executive director. We are also indebted to Geneviève Hamel, Suzanne Bruneau, Suzanne Côté and Nathalie Ouellet who coordinated the planning and realization of the survey.

We are sincerely thankful to the Inuit interviewers who carried out exceptional work in often challenging circumstances.

We are also grateful to all of the professionals, technicians, students, ground team and clerical staff, as well as the crew of the Canadian Coast Guard Ship Amundsen.

Finally, this survey could not have been undertaken without the financial support of the Nunavik Regional Board of Health and Social Services, the Kativik Regional Government, Makivik Corporation, Kativik Ilisarniliriniq, the *ministère de la Santé et des Services sociaux du Québec*, ArcticNet, the Amundsen Science Ship Fund and the Northern Contaminants Program.

Numerous people have contributed at different stages of the survey process; many of them are listed below, and there are many more.

Minnie Grey

Chairperson, *Qanuilirpitaa*? Steering Committee Executive Director, NRBHSS

In memory of Audrey Flemming and Linda Shipaluk.

PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATORS AND INUIT ADVISORS*

Adult component

Pierre Ayotte Chris Furgal Mélanie Lemire Benoît Lévesque Michel Lucas Mary Pilurtuut

Youth component

Richard Bélanger Gina Muckle Louisa Yeates

Community component

Nancy Etok Christopher Fletcher Kitty Gordon Betsy Palliser Mylène Riva

Oral health

Aimée Dawson Chantal Galarneau

Men's Health Gilles Tremblay

STEERING COMMITTEE AND DATA MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE (DMC) PARTICIPANTS

Minnie Grey (Steering Committee chair) Marie Rochette (DMC co-chair) Robert Watt (DMC co-chair) Alicia Aragutak Ellen Avard Jean-Etienne Bégin Francoise Bouchard Suzanne Bruneau Marie-Noëlle Caron Maria Cengarle Yasmine Charara Suzanne Côté Serge Déry Aleashia Echalook Mona Eepa Belleau Maggie Emudluk Barrie Ford Susie Gagnon Marie-Josée Gauthier Yoan Girard Lucy Grev Geneviève Hamel Olivia Ikey Suzy Kauki Elena Koneak Labranche Christine Leblanc Stéphanie Léveillé Eliana Manrique Murray McDonald Jennifer Munick Tunu Napartuk

Jeannie Nungak Josepi Padlayat Geneviève Pellerin Fabien Pernet Maata Putugu Hilda Snowball Danielle St-Laurent Jobie Tukkiapik Larry Watt Shirley White-Dupuis

INTERVIEWERS/NURSES

Linda Amidlak Thomas Annanak Lydia Audlaluk Jeannie Calvin Caroline Couture Louis-Frédéric Daigle Véronique Dion Roy Geneviève Dorval Véronique Doutreloux Philippe Dufresne Victoria E. Forest Audrey Flemming Jeannie Flemming Elisabeth Gagné Virginie Gargano Suzie Gordon Sarah Imak l éa l aflamme Pierre Lejeune Alexandre Léveillé Paul Marcoux Josée Michaud Laura McKeeman Claude Morency Caroline Moisan Julie Nastapoka Julie Picard Michel Poulin Linda Shipaluk Évelyne Thibault Mina Tukai Amelia Tukkiapik Whiteley

COMMUNICATION AND TRANSLATION

Minnie Amidlak Annie Baron Nicolas Baltazar **Brigitte Chalifoux** Caroline D'Astous Nina Gilbert Alasie Hickey Nathalie Labonté Irène Langis Josée Lévesque Robert Mackey Émilie Pelletier Eva Pilurtuut Ida Saunders Jenny Simpraseuth Rhéal Séguin

DENTISTS/RESPIRATORY THERAPISTS

Élaine Audet Lucie Bélanger Hélène Fournier-Noël Marie-Rose Gagnon Beaumont Isabelle Gauthier Gabrielle Gingras Ariane H. Morin Cassiopée Paradis-Gagnon

GROUND-STAFF

Stéphane Anctil Julien Arsenault Marie Bernard Justine Blanco Lalande **Christian Brunet** Virginie Chadenet Catherine Godin Josianne Grenier **Dominique Hamel** Robert Ladouceur Trina Manac'h Laurence Millette Guillaume Proulx Svlvie Ricard Camille Tremblay-Fournier As well as all local research assistants and local logistics staff

ADMINISTRATIVE SUPPORT AND INFORMATIC TECHNOLOGIES

Vincent Gilbert Denis Granghon Eva Gunn Ginette Laflamme Liv Larsen Richard Leboeuf Sylvie Muller

DATA PROCESSING, QUALITY CONTROL AND LAB WORK

Véronique Boiteau Marc-André Dubé Marianne Dubé Denis Hamel Judith Labrecque Jacinthe Larochelle Caroline Moisan Nathalie Ouellet Louis Rochette Mélanie St-Onge Mélanie Tessier Hamado Zoungrana

COMMUNITY COMPONENT/ MOBILIZATION

David Arsenault Marie Baron Imane Cheriet Marie-Hélène Dion-Gagnon Sarah Fraser Melody Lynch Marie-Claude Lyonnais Cindy Ruel

AND MANY MORE!

* Each name is listed only once even though it may have been mentioned in more than one category.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST O	F TABLES	V
LIST O	PF FIGURES	VI
1	BACKGROUND OF THE QANUILIRPITAA? 2017 HEALTH SURVEY	1
	Target population	1
	Survey frame	1
	Data collection	2
	Participation	2
2	INTRODUCTION	3
3	METHODOLOGICAL ASPECTS	4
4	RESULTS	7
	4.1 Tobacco products	7
	 4.1.1 Smoking prevalence 	7
	 4.1.2 Initiation to cigarette smoking 	11
	 4.1.3 Number of cigarettes smoked 	13
	> 4.1.4 Smoking cessation	13
	> 4.1.5 Second-hand smoke	15
	4.2 Alcohol	15
	 4.2.1 Prevalence of alcohol use 	15
	> 4.2.2 Binge drinking	19
	 4.2.3 Potential problem drinking 	22



4.3 Drug use	24
> 4.3.1 Prevalence of lifetime drug use	24
> 4.3.2 Cannabis use	25
> 4.3.3 Other drug use	28
> 4.3.4 Potential drug abuse problem	29
4.4 Harm perception and help seeking	30
 4.4.1 Harm perception of tobacco and cannabis use 	30
 4.4.2 Help or treatment for alcohol or drug use 	32

33



CUSSION

REFERENCES	36
APPENDIX A - QUESTIONS ABOUT SUBSTANCE USE	39
APPENDIX B - ADDITIONAL RESULTS	50

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 P. 5	Sociocultural indicators
Table 2 P. 9	Tobacco smoking status for the year preceding the survey and electronic cigarette use by sociodemographic characteristics (%), population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017
Table 3 P. 12	Age at first cigarette by sex, age group and coast (%), current and former smokers aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017
Table 4 P. 16	Drinking status according to sociodemographic characteristics (%), population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017
Table 5 P. 19	Monthly drinking in the year preceding the survey according to sex, age group and coast (%), population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2004 and 2017
Table 6 P. 21	Prevalence of weekly binge drinking and problem drinking by sociodemographic characteristics (%), population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017
Table 7 P. 22	Prevalence of weekly binge drinking by sex, age group and coast (%), population aged 16 and over, Nunavik, 2004 and 2017
Table 8 P. 22	Perception of alcohol use among people who drank in the past year: items of the CAGE screening tool (% yes) by sex, population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017
Table 9 P. 24	Prevalence of potential problem drinking (CAGE of 2 or more) among people who had drunk alcohol in the year preceding the survey by sex, age group and coast (%), Nunavik, 2004 and 2017
Table 10 P. 27	Prevalence of cannabis use in the previous year by sociodemographic factors (%), population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017
Table 11 P. 28	Prevalence of cannabis use in the year preceding the survey according to sex, age group and coast (%), population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2004 and 2017
Table 12 P. 29	Other drugs used in the past 12 months by sex (%), population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik. 2017

- Table ATobacco smoking status by socioculturalP. 50factors (%), Nunavik, 2017
- Table BNumber of cigarettes smoked by dailyP. 51smokers, by sociodemographic factors (%),
population aged 16 years and over,
Nunavik, 2017
- **Table C**Indoor and passive smoking in the house,P. 52by sociodemographic factors (%), population
aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017
- Table DMonthly alcohol drinking, weekly binge drinkingP. 53and potential problem drinking, by
sociocultural factors (%), Nunavik, 2017
- Table ELifetime drug use, lifetime glue, gasolineP. 54or other solvent use and potential drug abuse
problem in the past year (%), by
sociodemographic factors, population
aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017
- Table FCannabis use and potential drug abuseP. 55problem in the past year, by sociocultural
factors (%), Nunavik, 2017

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 P. 8	Smoking status during the year preceding the survey according to age (%), population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017
Figure 2 P. 10	Smoking status in the year preceding the survey among Nunavimmiut, <i>Qanuippitaa</i> ? 2004 and <i>Qanuilirpitaa</i> ? 2017 surveys
Figure 3 P. 11	Electronic cigarette use in the past year (%) according to age and sex, population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017
Figure 4 P. 13	Starting age of daily smoking according to smoking status (%), current and former smokers aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017
Figure 5 P. 14	Current daily and occasional smokers who had stopped smoking for at least 24 hours in the 12 months preceding the survey (%), by age, Nunavik, 2017
Figure 6 P. 14	Methods used to try to quit smoking in the year preceding the survey (%), current and former smokers aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017
Figure 7 P. 16	Drinking status in the year preceding the survey by sex (%), population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017
Figure 8 P. 18	Drinking status by age (%), population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017

Figure 9Binge drinking episodes during the 12 monthsP. 20preceding the survey by age group (%),
population aged 16 years and over,
Nunavik, 2017

Figure 10Prevalence of potential problem drinking
among people who had drunk alcohol in the
year preceding the survey (%) by age group,
Nunavik, 2017

- Figure 11Prevalence of lifetime glue, gasoline, propane
or other solvent use by sex and age group (%),
population aged 16 years and over,
Nunavik, 2017
- Figure 12Prevalence of cannabis use in the 12 monthsP. 26preceding the survey by sex (%), population
aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017

Figure 13 Potential drug abuse problems among P. 30 Nunavimmiut who had used drugs in the year preceding the survey, by age group (%), population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017

- Figure 14Harm perception of regular tobacco smokingP. 31by age (% yes), population aged 16 years
and over, Nunavik, 2017
- Figure 15Harm perception of regular cannabis smokingP. 32by age (% yes), population aged 16 years
and over, Nunavik, 2017

BACKGROUND OF THE QANUILIRPITAA? 2017 HEALTH SURVEY

The *Qanuilirpitaa*? 2017 Health Survey is a major population health survey conducted in Nunavik that involved the collection, analysis and dissemination of information on the health status of Nunavimmiut. The last health survey conducted prior to it in Nunavik dated from 2004. Since then, no other surveys providing updated information on the health of this population had been carried out. Thus, in February 2014, the Board of Directors of the Nunavik Regional Board of Health and Social Services (NRBHSS) unanimously adopted a resolution to conduct a new health survey in all 14 Nunavik communities, in support of the Strategic Regional Plan.

The general objective of the 2017 health survey was to provide an up-to-date portrait of the health status of Nunavimmiut. It was also aimed at assessing trends and following up on the health and health determinants of adult participants since 2004, as well as evaluating the health status of Nunavik youth. This health survey has strived to move beyond traditional survey approaches so as to nurture the research capabilities and skills of Inuit and support the development and empowerment of communities.

Qanuilirpitaa? 2017 included four different components: 1) an adult component to document the mental and physical health status of adults in 2017 and follow up on the adult cohort of 2004; 2) a youth component to establish a new cohort of Nunavimmiut aged 16 to 30 years old and to document their mental and physical health status; 3) a community component to establish the health profiles and assets of communities in a participatory research approach; and 4) a community mobilization project aimed at mobilizing communities and fostering their development.

This health survey relied on a high degree of partnership within Nunavik (Nunavik Regional Board of Health and Social Services (NRBHSS), Makivik Corporation, Kativik Regional Government (KRG), Kativik Ilisarniliriniq (KI), Avataq Cultural Institute, Qarjuit Youth Council, Inuulitsivik Health Centre, Ungava Tulattavik Health Centre), as well as between Nunavik, the Institut national de santé publique du Québec (INSPQ) and academic researchers from three Canadian universities: Université Laval, McGill University and Trent University. This approach followed the OCAP principles of Ownership, Control, Access and Possession (First Nations Information Governance Centre, 2007).¹ It also emphasized the following values and principles: empowerment and self-determination, respect, value, relevance and usefulness, trust, transparency, engagement, scientific rigour and a realistic approach.

TARGET POPULATION

The survey target population was all permanent Nunavik residents aged 16 years and over. Persons living full time in public institutions were not included in the survey. The most up-to-date beneficiaries register of all Inuit living in Nunavik, provided by the Makivik Corporation in spring 2017, was used to construct the main survey frame. According to this register, the population of Nunavik was 12 488 inhabitants spread out in 14 communities. This register allowed respondents to be selected on the basis of age, sex and coast of residence (Hudson coast and Ungava coast).

SURVEY FRAME

The survey used a stratified proportional model to select respondents. Stratification was conducted based on communities and age groups, given that one of the main objectives of the survey was to provide estimates for two subpopulations aged, respectively, 16 to 30 years and 31 years and over. In order to obtain precise estimates, the targeted sample size was 1 000 respondents in each age group. Assuming a 50% response rate, nearly 4 000 people were required to obtain the necessary sample size. From this pool, the number of individuals recruited from each

^{1.} OCAP® is a registered trademark of the First Nations Information Governance Centre (FNIGC).

community was proportionate to population size and took into account the number of days that the survey team would remain in each community – a situation that imposed constraints on the number of participants that could be seen. Within each stratum, participants were randomly selected from the beneficiaries register. However, the individuals from the 2004 cohort, all 31 years old and over (representing approximately 700 individuals), were automatically included in the initial sample. The survey also included a clinical component, with tests to document aspects of physical health, sampling of biological specimens (such as blood, oropharyngeal swabs, urine, stool, and vaginal swabs), spirometry, and an oral clinical exam. These sessions were supervised by a team comprised of nurses, respiratory therapists, dentists, dental hygienists and assistants, and laboratory technicians.

DATA COLLECTION

Data were collected from August 19, 2017 to October 5, 2017 in the 14 villages. The villages were reached by the *Amundsen*, a Canadian Coast Guard Icebreaker, and participants were invited on board the ship for data collection purposes.

Two recruitment teams travelled from one community to another before the ship's arrival. An Inuk assistant in each community helped: identify, contact and transport (if necessary) each participant; inform participants about the sampling and study procedures; obtain informed consent from participants (video) and fill in the identification sheet and sociodemographic questionnaire.

Data collection procedures for the survey included questionnaires, as well as clinical measurements. The survey duration was about four hours for each wave of participants, including their transportation to and from the ship. Unfortunately, this time frame was sometimes insufficient to complete the data collection process. This survey received ethical approval by the Comité d'éthique de la recherche du Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Québec – Université Laval.

Aboard the ship, the survey questionnaires were administered by interviewers, many of whom were Inuit. Face-to-face interviews were conducted using a computerassisted interviewing tool. If there were problems with the laptop connections, paper-form questionnaires were filled out. The questionnaires were administered in Inuktitut, English or French, according to the preference of the participants. Interviewers received training in administering the questionnaires prior to the start of the survey. The questionnaires were divided into five blocks: psychosocial interview (blocks 1 and 3), physical health and food security interview (block 2), food frequency questionnaire (block 4), and sociodemographic interview (block 5).

PARTICIPATION

There were a total of 1 326 participants, including 574 Nunavimmiut aged 16 to 30 years old and 752 Nunavimmiut aged 31 years and over, for total response rates of 30.7% and 41.5%, respectively. The participants' distribution between the two coasts (Ungava and Hudson) was similar. The distribution of men and women was unequal, with twice as many women (873) than men (453) participating in the survey. If the results obtained from this sample are to be inferred to the target population, survey weights must be used.

Overall, as compared to the 2004 survey, the response rate (i.e., the rate of participants over the total number of individuals on the sampling list) was lower than expected, especially among young people. This includes the refusal rate and especially a low contact rate. Several reasons might explain the low response rate, including the short time period available to contact individuals prior to the ship's arrival in the community and non-contact due to people being outside of the community or on the land. Nevertheless, among the individuals that were contacted (n = 1 661), the participation rate was satisfactory with an internal participation rate of 79.7% More details on the collection, processing and analysis of the data are given in the Methodological Report (Hamel, Hamel et Gagnon, 2020).

INTRODUCTION

Healthy lifestyles, which involve exposing oneself to diversified nutrition, practicing physical activity frequently, and nurturing satisfying relationships with friends and family, is paramount to decreasing the risk of presenting health problems (Loef & Walach, 2012). Both physical and mental health can be negatively affected by substance use, which is defined as the consumption of psychoactive substances (tobacco, alcohol, cannabis, and other drugs), no matter how they are consumed (through drinking, smoking, vaping, chewing, injecting, etc.). Substance misuse occurs when a pattern of use is inconsistent with legal or medical guidelines and is frequently associated with adverse physical, psychological, social or legal consequences for the user, even in the absence of any use disorder (World Health Organization, 2019a). Substance misuse is of particular concern for young and middle-aged adults as it is associated with many leading causes of mortality and morbidity among these age groups, including unintentional injury, suicide, cancer and heart disease (Ray, 2017). Indeed, in 2012, substance use was estimated to be responsible for one fifth of all deaths in Canada (Patra, Taylor, Rehm, & Baliunas, 2007). In addition to the adverse effects on physical and mental health, substance use has long been recognized as having major psychosocial consequences, such as relationship instability, interpersonal violence, educational problems, and employment and financial difficulties (World Health Organization. Programme on Substance Abuse, 1993).

In Nunavik, substance abuse is influenced by several factors, such as dealing with conditions of overcrowding, unemployment, and rapid cultural, economic, social and environmental changes. Loss of community members to suicide, injuries and accidents means that communities regularly experience crisis and grief. The long-term, intergenerational effects of residential schooling and other traumas also contribute to substance misuse (Cameron, 2011).

The Qanuippitaa? 2004 survey revealed a high prevalence of tobacco, alcohol and cannabis use among Nunavimmiut. Indeed, 70% of Nunavimmiut reported daily smoking in 2004. Binge drinking (five drinks or more on a single occasion) was also widespread with close to nine out of ten Nunavimmiut having drunk heavily at least once in the year prior to the survey. Cannabis was the drug most frequently used, with 60% of the population reporting marijuana or hashish use during the 12 months preceding *Qanuippitaa*? 2004 (Muckle, Boucher & Laflamme, 2007).

The goal of this report is to describe the occurrence of tobacco, alcohol and drug use in Nunavik in relation to certain sociodemographic and sociocultural characteristics. It is divided into four sections presenting the results of the *Qanuilirpitaa?* 2017 Health Survey regarding, respectively, tobacco products use, alcohol consumption, drug use, and harm perception of substance use behaviours.

5 METHODOLOGICAL ASPECTS

A questionnaire (in Inuktitut or English) was used in the *Qanuilirpitaa*? 2017 Health Survey to gather information on tobacco products, alcohol and drug use (see Appendix A for the list of questions). Participants were interviewed by a trained interviewer who administered the questionnaire using computer-assisted interviewing software.

Tobacco products use was documented mainly for cigarette smoking, which is the most common form of tobacco use worldwide. Taking into account the reported frequency of smoking in the year preceding the survey, participants were classified according to their current smoking status: daily smokers, occasional smokers (smoked in the past 12 months, but not daily) and nonsmokers (former smokers and lifetime abstainers). Tobacco smoking initiation, number of cigarettes smoked daily and smoking cessation were also documented.

Frequency of alcohol consumption was assessed for the year preceding the survey: monthly drinking (drank alcohol at least once a month), occasional drinking (drank less than once a month), former drinking (drank in one's lifetime but not in the previous year) and abstention (never drank alcohol). Binge drinking was defined for both men and women as having had five or more drinks on a single occasion (same evening, same party, etc.) in the year preceding the survey. A standard drink was defined as one bottle or can of beer, one glass of wine or wine cooler, one shooter or one cocktail with 1½ ounces of liquor.

The CAGE questionnaire (Ewing, 1984) was integrated into the Qanuilirpitaa? 2017 survey questionnaire to assess potential problem drinking. This instrument is composed of four questions: "Have you ever felt that you should cut down on your drinking?"; "Have people ever annoyed you by criticizing your drinking (such as, partner, children, boss, co-workers of friends)?"; "Have you ever felt bad or guilty about your drinking?"; "Have you ever had a drink first thing in the morning to steady your nerves or get rid of a hangover?". The questions are rated on a dichotomous yes/no scale and the CAGE total score is the count of affirmative answers. The CAGE is a widely used screening instrument for detecting potential alcohol abuse and alcohol dependence (Fiellin, Reid, & O'Connor, 2000). A CAGE total score of 2 or higher is not equivalent to a diagnosis of alcoholism, but it may be a sign of problem alcohol consumption that puts an individual at risk of having negative impacts on their daily life. As with the *Qanuippitaa*? 2004 survey, a CAGE score using the cutoff of 3 or higher was also used to represent the variability in the severity of problems related to alcohol consumption.

Lifetime drug use (any drug) as well as lifetime solvent use were also documented. Cannabis use was assessed for the year preceding the survey, with the following classification: daily use, regular use (more than once a month, but not daily), occasional use (less than once a month), abstinence (no cannabis use). Problems related to drug abuse were assessed by the DAST-10 screening tool. Derived from the DAST screening tool, the DAST-10 consists of 10 questions concerning involvement with drugs, excluding alcohol and tobacco, in the past 12 months (Skinner, 1982). This tool has been used and validated in many settings (hospital, primary care, self-assessment) and in many populations (Yudko, Lozhkina, & Fouts, 2007). In the present survey sample, the DAST-10 had a moderate internal consistency (Cronbach α = 0.60), which is lower than what is usually reported (around 0.90) (Yudko et al., 2007). DAST-10 scores are usually interpreted using 5 categories based on the degree of problems related to drug abuse: no problems, low level, moderate level, substantial level and severe level. However, due to the distribution of the scores in the sample, the low to severe levels were combined to create a dichotomous variable of potential problems related to drug abuse (no problems/low to severe level).

Finally, harm perception of regular and occasional cigarette smoking was documented on a 4-level scale (no risk/ slight risk/moderate risk/great risk) using a question from the Canadian Student Tobacco, Alcohol and Drugs Survey: *"How much do you think people risk harming themselves when they smoke cigarettes on a regular basis?"* (Statistics Canada, 2015). Harm perception of regular cannabis use was also documented on a 4-level scale (no risk/slight risk/moderate risk/great risk) using a question from the Canadian Student Tobacco, Alcohol and Drugs Survey: *"How much do you think people risk harming themselves when they smoke weed, marijuana or cannabis on a regular basis?"* (Statistics Canada, 2015). The analyses presented in this thematic report include cross-tabulations by sex (men/women), coastal region (Hudson/Ungava),² age group (16 to 30/31 to 54/55 years and over), marital status (single/married or common law/ separated, divorced or widowed), education (elementary school or less/secondary school not completed/secondary school or higher), employment (employed/not employed),³ annual personal income (less than \$20 000/\$20 000 or more), and community size (large/small).⁴ Also, given that rapid changes in behaviours and attitudes with regard to substance use occur in youth, the younger age group (16 to 30 years old) was divided, for some analyses, into individuals 16 to 20 years old and those 21 to 30 years old.

To integrate cultural specificities that may influence substance use, associations with several sociocultural indicators were examined (Table 1). Additional information on these sociocultural indicators as well as the related list of questions can be found in the Sociocultural Determinants of Health and Wellness Thematic Report.

Table 1 Sociocultural indicators

CULTURAL IDENTITY	Thirteen statements asking about the importance of Inuit values and identity (e.g., perceived connection among community members, adherence to cultural values) Likert scale: 1-Strongly agree to 5-Strongly disagree; Comparisons: high cultural identity (top 30 percentiles) vs. other
FREQUENCY OF GOING ON THE LAND	"From the Spring until now, how often did you go on the land?" Likert scale: 1-Never, 2-Occasionally, 3-Often; Comparisons: Often vs. Occasionally or Never
FOUR TYPES OF SOCIAL SUPPORT	 6 questions. Frequency of four types of social support: > positive interactions: "Have someone to have a good time with" > emotional support: "Have someone to talk to if I feel troubled or need emotional support", "Have someone to count on when I need advice", "Have someone to listen when I need to talk" > tangible support for transportation to health services: "Have someone to take me to the doctor or another health professional if needed" > love and affection: "Have someone who shows me love and affection" Likert scale: 1-All of the time to 5-Never; Comparisons: number of types present

	6 questions: 5 from the Brief Family Relationship Scale questionnaire + one adapted to Inuit culture.
FAMILY COHESION	In my close family,"there is a feeling of togetherness", "we really help and support each other", "we really get along well with each other", "we spend a lot of time doing things together at home", "we spend a lot of time doing things together on the land", "I am proud to be a part of my family"
	Likert scale: 1-Very true to 3-Not true; Comparisons: high family cohesion (top 30 percentiles) vs. other
COMMUNITY	4 questions on people's perception of social cohesion in the community: "There is a feeling of togetherness or closeness", "People help others", "People can be trusted", "I feel like I belong"
CONESION	Likert scale: 1-Strongly agree to 5-Strongly disagree; Comparisons: high community cohesion (top 30 percentiles) vs. other
INVOLVEMENT	Frequency of involvement in two types of community activities: "Participation in cultural, community or sports events such as festivals, dances, feasts or louit games" "Volunteered for a group, an organization or community
	event such as a rescue team, church group, feasts, spring clean-up"
ACTIVITIES	Likert scale: 1-Always to 5-Never; Comparisons: Always or Often vs. Sometimes, Rarely or Never
PARTICIPATION IN HEALING	"In the past 12 months, have you taken part in any activities to promote your own healing or wellness?"
AND WELLNESS ACTIVITIES	Yes/No answer
SEDENTARY TIME	"During the last 7 days, how much time did you spend sitting on a week day?"; Comparisons: > 7 hours vs. \leq 7 hours

Comparison tests were performed with a global chi-square test for categorical variables to find out if any proportion was different across categories. In the presence of a significant result (p < 0.05), two-by-two comparisons were performed to further identify statistically significant differences between categories. These tests involved the construction of a Wald statistic based on the difference between the logit transformations of the estimated proportions. Only significant differences at the 5% threshold are reported in the text and all other tested factors found to be non-related are presented in the tables in Appendix B. Significant differences between categories are denoted in the tables and figures using superscripts. All data analyses for this thematic report were done using SAS software, Version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). Limitations. Only bivariate analyses were performed to describe associations with selected socioeconomic and sociocultural indicators. These analyses do not take into consideration possible confounding or interaction effects. Consequently, these results should be interpreted with caution.

Accuracy of estimates. The data used in this report come from a sample and are thus subject to a certain degree of error. Following the guidelines of the Institut de la Statistique du Québec (ISQ), coefficients of variation (CV) were used to quantify the accuracy of estimates. Estimates with a CV between 15% and 25% are accompanied by a * to indicate that they should be interpreted carefully, while estimates with a CV greater than 25% are presented with a ** and are shown for information purposes only.

This section reports the prevalence of substance use and misuse for the Nunavik population aged 16 years and older, according to sociodemographic and selected sociocultural factors.⁵

4.1 TOBACCO PRODUCTS

The World Health Organisation identifies tobacco smoking as the leading cause of death, illness and impoverishment in the world (World Health Organization, 2019b). In addition to the direct consequences of smoking for the smoker, there is the issue of second-hand smoke, which is smoke produced by burning any tobacco product. Such smoke also has its share of negative consequences ranging from cardiovascular and respiratory diseases to pregnancy complications and low birth weight (World Health Organization, 2019b). While all tobacco smoking causes adverse health effects, an early age of initiation and a large number of cigarettes smoked daily are well-established health risk factors. Thus, an early age of initiation is associated with a higher risk of nicotine addiction (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2014; Wong, 2006), while the number of cigarettes smoked daily is directly associated with lung function and respiratory symptoms (Higenbottam, Shipley, Clark, & Rose, 1980). Different environmental and individual factors affect quitting success; however, counselling and medication can more than double the success of smoking cessation (World Health Organization, 2019b). Electronic cigarettes are a relatively new tobacco product that has gained in popularity in Canada in recent years, with youth and young adults being more likely to have tried them at least once (Reid et al., 2019).

4.1.1 Smoking prevalence

Tobacco smoking is widespread in Nunavik communities: Seventy-two percent (72%) of Nunavimmiut aged 16 years and over reported smoking daily and 8%*, occasionally (i.e., they had smoked in the year preceding the survey, but not daily). One-fifth (20%) of Nunavik's population did not smoke in the year preceding the survey, with 10% being former smokers and 10% abstainers. No differences were observed in tobacco smoking between men and women, regardless of smoking status (daily smokers, occasional smokers or non-smokers) (Table 2). With regard to agerelated differences, although daily smoking was very frequent in all age groups, the proportion of daily smokers was lower among people aged 55 and over than among those in other age groups (Figure 1).





1. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to Nunavimmiut aged 55 years and over.

2. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 16-20 age group.

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully.

The proportions of smokers according to sociodemographic characteristics are presented in Table 2. Daily smoking was more frequent on the Hudson coast than the Ungava coast. In addition, single people were more likely to smoke daily than those who were in a relationship or those who were separated, divorced or widowed. Nunavimmiut with a lower income were also more likely to smoke on a daily basis. No differences in tobacco use were observed according to employment or community size. The prevalence of smoking was similar in 2017 to what was observed in 2004 (Figure 2). However, the prevalence of daily smoking among Nunavimmiut aged 16 to 20 years old was lower in 2017 than in 2004 (70% vs. 85% in 2004) and higher among those aged 55 years and over (56% vs. 38% in 2004).

Table 2Tobacco smoking status for the year preceding the survey and electronic cigarette use by sociodemographic
characteristics (%), population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017

	Tobacco smoking status			Electronic
	Daily	Occasional	Non-smoker	cigarette
Total	71.6	7.9	20.5	12.2
Sex				
Men	69.2	8.5*	22.3	15.5 ¹
Women	73.8	7.3	18.9	8.8
Age group				
16-20 years	70.2 ³	12.8*	17.0 ^{*3}	23.7 ³
21-30 years	77.9 ³	6.5 ^{*2}	15.6 ^{*3}	15.2 ^{2,3}
31-54 years	74.6 ³	6.7 ^{*2}	18.6 ³	8.8*2,4
55 years and older	55.8	7.9*	36.3	3.8**
Coast				
Hudson	77.5 ¹	5.7 ^{*1}	16.8 ¹	10.8
Ungava	63.9	10.8	25.3	14.0
Marital status				
Single	76.9	9.2	14.0	17.9
Married or common law	68.2 ⁵	7.1*	24.7 ⁵	8.8 ⁵
Separated, divorced or widowed	65.0 ⁵	5.7**	29.3 ^{*5}	NP
Education				
Elementary school or less	65.2 ⁶	8.4**	26.4 ^{*6}	6.7**
Secondary school not completed	75.5	8.0	16.5	12.4
Secondary school or higher	67.2 ⁶	7.9*	24.9 ⁶	14.4
Employment				
Employed	70.0	8.8	21.2	12.5
Not employed	74.5	6.4*	19.2	10.9
Income				
Less than \$20 000	75.9 ¹	8.1*	15.9 ¹	14.7
\$20 000 or more	64.8	7.8*	27.4	10.6
Community size				
Large	71.9	7.7	20.4	11.5
Small	71.2	8.2	20.6	13.2

Coloured cells indicate statistically significant comparisons.

1. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the other group.

2. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 16-20 age group.

3. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 55 and over age group.

4. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 21-30 age group.

5. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to single Nunavimmiut.

6. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to people who did not complete secondary school.

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully.

 ** The coefficient of variation is greater than 25%. The proportion is shown for information only.

NP: Data not presented due to small number of respondents.





NOTE

Cross-tabulations between sociocultural factors and smoking status are presented in Table A (Appendix B). Being involved in community activities was associated with a lower proportion of daily smoking (68% vs. 74% for a lower level of involvement). Also, Nunavimmiut reporting higher levels of social cohesion were more likely to be daily smokers (76% vs. 69% for a lower level of cohesion). No significant difference was found with other sociocultural factors.

Electronic cigarettes. Twelve percent (12%) of Nunavimmiut reported having used or tried an electronic cigarette in the past 12 months; the prevalence was higher among men (16% vs. 9% for women; Figure 3). The proportion of

electronic cigarette use gradually decreased with age, in both men and women, with significantly higher proportions being observed in younger people (16 to 20 years old and 21 to 30 years old) compared to those aged 31 to 54 years and 55 years and over (Table 2). Single Nunavimmiut were more likely to have used or tried an electronic cigarette than those in a relationship. For cross-tabulations with other sociodemographic variables, see Table 2. The association between electronic cigarette use and tobacco smoking was also examined: current smokers (daily or occasional) were more likely to have used an electronic cigarette than non-smokers (14% vs. 7%).

^{1.} Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to 2004.



Figure 3 Electronic cigarette use in the past year (%) according to age and sex, population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017

Data not available due to the small number of respondents for men in the 55 and over age group.

1. Statisically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 16-20 age group.

2. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 55 and over age group.

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully.

** The coefficient of variation is greater than 25%. The proportion is shown for information only.

NP: Data not presented due to small number of respondents.

4.1.2 Initiation to cigarette smoking

Age at first cigarette. More than three quarters of current and former tobacco smokers smoked their first cigarette before the age of 16 (78%). Women were more likely than men (57% vs. 50% for men) to smoke their first cigarette at an early age (13 years old and younger; Table 3). Nunavimmiut under 55 years old were more likely to have had their first cigarette at the age of 13 or younger than those aged 55 years and over. Hudson coast residents were more likely to start smoking at 13 years of age or younger than Ungava coast residents. Current daily smokers were more likely to have had their first cigarette at 13 years of age or younger than occasional smokers and former smokers (Table 3).

	13 years and under	14 to 15 years	16 years and over
Total	53.6	24.7	21.7
Sex			
Men	50.2 ¹	23.6	26.3 ¹
Women	56.8	25.9	17.3
Age group			
Men			
16-20 years	55.8 ³	29.6*	14.5**
21-30 years	52.9 ³	27.8*	19.3** ³
31-54 years	52.3 ³	17.6 ^{*2}	30.1 ²
55 years and over	34.5*	25.3	40.2 ²
Women			
16-20 years	64.2 ³	27.0	8.8**
21-30 years	62.5 ³	24.9	12.6 ^{*3}
31-54 years	57.7 ³	24.9	17.4 ²
55 years and over	33.2	29.6*	37.2 ²
Community size			
Large	54.9	23.2	21.9
Small	51.7	26.8	21.4
Coast			
Hudson	59.7 ¹	20.6 ¹	19.7 ¹
Ungava	45.3	30.4	24.4
Current smoking status			
Daily	55.9	24.3	19.7
Occasional	42.24	28.0*	29.9*4
Former	45.44	25.2	29.44

Table 3Age at first cigarette by sex, age group and coast (%), current and former smokers aged 16 years and over,
Nunavik, 2017

NOTES

Coloured cells indicate statistically significant comparisons.

1. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the other group.

2. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 16-20 age group.

3. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 55 and over age group.

4. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to daily smokers.

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully.

** The coefficient of variation is greater than 25%. The proportion is shown for information only.

Starting age for daily smoking. Daily smoking in Nunavik starts early in life: a quarter of current and former smokers started to smoke daily before 14 years of age (Figure 4). Among people who smoked daily at some point in their

lifetime, women were more likely than men to start daily tobacco smoking before 14 years of age (28% vs. 22% for men), as were residents of the Hudson coast (30% vs. 19% for the Ungava coast).

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully. ** The coefficient of variation is greater than 25%. The proportion is shown for information only.

4.1.3 Number of cigarettes smoked

On average, daily smokers reported smoking 13 cigarettes per day in the year preceding the survey. Nearly half of daily smokers (48%) smoked 10 cigarettes or less per day, 41% between 11 and 24 cigarettes daily and one in 10 (11%) more than 24 cigarettes per day. On average, men reported smoking more cigarettes per day than women (15 vs. 12 cigarettes for women). The majority of women who smoke daily reported smoking less than 10 cigarettes a day (58%). Nunavimmiut aged 16 to 20 and 21 to 30 smoked fewer cigarettes per day (mean = 11 and 12 cigarettes, respectively) compared to those aged 31 to 54 years (mean = 15 cigarettes) and those aged 55 years and over (mean = 14 cigarettes). All cross-tabulations with sociodemographic variables are presented in Table B (Appendix B).

4.1.4 Smoking cessation

Among current smokers, 37% reported having tried to quit smoking during at least 24 hours in the year preceding the survey, with occasional smokers being more likely to have tried to quit (59%) than daily smokers (35%). Among current smokers, youth aged 16 to 20 years old were the most likely to have tried to quit smoking. In fact, the likelihood of having tried to quit smoking in the past year appears to be decreasing with age (Figure 5). Smokers residing on the Ungava coast were more likely to have tried to quit than residents of the Hudson coast (43% vs. 32%). No differences were observed according to sex, marital status, education, employment, income or community size, or between 2004 and 2017 (data not shown).

Figure 5 Current daily and occasional smokers who had stopped smoking for at least 24 hours in the 12 months preceding the survey (%), by age, Nunavik, 2017

1. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 16-20 age group.

2. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 21-30 age group.

3. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 55 and over age group.

Most Nunavimmiut did not use any specific method when they tried to quit smoking (59%; Figure 6). When looking for help, most turned to family, support programs or spiritual/traditional methods. One in five Nunavimmiut tried nicotine replacement therapy to quit smoking (29%).

Figure 6 Methods used to try to quit smoking in the year preceding the survey (%), current and former smokers aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017

Proportions (%)

NOTES

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully. ** The coefficient of variation is greater than 25%. The proportion is shown for information only.

4.1.5 Second-hand smoke

Exposure to tobacco smoke in the living environment – home, car, outside gatherings – is known as second-hand smoking or passive smoking. This survey assessed secondhand smoke in the home, including in furnace rooms, close to open windows, under kitchen vents and in certain rooms. Such smoke is the main source of exposure to tobacco smoke in Nunavik communities.

Indoor smoking. About one third (29%) of smokers reported smoking indoors. Men were more likely to smoke indoors than women (34% vs. 25%). Single Nunavimmiut compared to those in a relationship (35% vs. 25%) and those with lower income (33% vs. 24% for an income of \$20 000 or more) were more likely to smoke indoors, as were residents of the Ungava coast (35% vs. 26% for the Hudson coast). No differences were observed according to age, education, employment or community size. All cross-tabulations with sociodemographic variables are presented in Table C (Appendix B).

Passive smoking at home. More than a quarter (27%) of Nunavimmiut had been exposed to second-hand smoke in their home more than once a week in the year preceding the survey. An additional 11% had been exposed less than once a week. The majority of Nunavimmiut lived in smokefree homes (62%), with women being more likely to do so than men (68% vs. 55%). Among women, those aged 21 to 30 and 31 to 54 years of age were more likely to live in smoke-free homes than women aged 55 and over (76% and 69% vs. 57%). Nunavimmiut who were married or in a common-law relationship were more likely to live in smoke-free homes than single and separated, divorced or widowed individuals (69% vs. 55% and 48%). Those with a lower income were more likely to be exposed more than once a week than those with a higher income (35% vs. 19%). Nunavimmiut from large communities were more likely to be living in smoke-free homes than those from small communities (65% vs. 58%). No differences were observed according to age or between coasts. All cross-tabulations with sociodemographic variables are presented in Table C (Appendix B).

4.2 ALCOHOL

Alcohol is the most commonly used psychoactive substance in Canada. Many Canadians associate drinking with pleasurable social events, celebrations and milestones, but the use of alcohol is also associated with many health and social adverse effects (Chief Public Health Officer of Canada, 2015). While the consumption of any amount of alcohol is associated with risks in certain circumstances, drinking patterns are crucial in reducing the health impacts of alcohol use (Chief Public Health Officer of Canada, 2015). The frequency and amount of alcohol consumed are key factors to consider. Binge drinking - the consumption of a large amount of alcohol in a single/short period of time - not only causes short-term adverse effects such as a hangover and passing out, but is also associated with long-term adverse outcomes such as alcohol dependence, lower academic achievement and less favourable employment (Jennison, 2004).

4.2.1 Prevalence of alcohol use

The majority of Nunavimmiut reported drinking alcohol in the year preceding the survey (83%). Most of them had drunk alcohol either less than three times a month (43%) or between one and six times a week (35%). A majority of Nunavimmiut (63%) who had drunk alcohol in the year prior to the survey reported drinking on a monthly basis (i.e., had drunk alcohol at least once a month in the year preceding the survey). One in five (20%) reported drinking occasionnally (i.e., drinking less than once a month; Figure 7) and 5% on a daily basis (data not shown). While monthly drinking was equally prevalent for both sexes, men were more likely to report occasional drinking than women, and women were more likely to report no drinking in the previous year than men (Figure 7). Finally, 17% percent of Nunavimmiut reported not drinking in the year preceding the survey. Of that proportion, 13% were former drinkers and 4% lifetime abstainers.

Monthly drinking: drank alcohol at least once a month in the year preceding the survey. Occasional drinking: drank alcohol in the year preceding the survey, but less than once a month. No drinking: reported not drinking alcohol in the year preceding the survey. 1. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to women.

Table 4	Drinking status according to sociodemographic characteristics (%), population aged 16 years and over,
	Nunavik, 2017

	Monthly	Occasional	No drinking
Total	63.3	19.8	17.2
Sex			
Men	62.7	23.4 ¹	13.9 ¹
Women	63.3	16.3	20.5
Age group			
16-20 years	58.7	25.9	15.4 ^{*3}
21-30 years	70.5 ^{2,3}	18.5	10.9 ^{*3}
31-54 years	69.4 ^{2,3}	17.9 ²	12.7 ³
55 years and over	40.32	20.4	39.3
Marital status			
Single	64.1	21.0	14.9
Married or common law	62.6	19.4	18.0
Separated, divorced or widowed	57.1	16.0**	27.0*

	Monthly	Occasional	No drinking
Education			
Elementary school or less	47.2	23.6*	29.2
Secondary school not completed	65.9 ⁴	18.3	15.7 ⁴
Secondary school or higher	65.3 ⁴	21.8	12.9 ⁴
Employment			
Employed	67.5 ¹	18.2	14.3 ¹
Not employed	53.5	23.4	23.1
Income			
Less than \$20 000	60.5 ¹	21.5	18.0
\$20 000 or more	67.9	17.6	14.6
Community size			
Large	66.9 ¹	18.1	15.0 ¹
Small	57.6	22.2	20.2
Coast			
Hudson	61.0	22.4 ¹	16.6
Ungava	65.5	16.5	18.0

Table 4Drinking status according to sociodemographic characteristics (%), population aged 16 years and over,
Nunavik, 2017 (continued)

NOTES

Monthly drinking: drank alcohol at least once a month in the year preceding the survey. **Occasional drinking**: drank alcohol in the year preceding the survey, but less than once a month. **No drinking**: reported not drinking alcohol in the year preceding the survey. Coloured cells indicate statistically significant comparisons.

1. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the other group.

2. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 16-20 age group.

3. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 55 and over age group.

4. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to Nunavimmiut who had completed elementary school or less.

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully.

** The coefficient of variation is greater than 25%. The proportion is shown for information only.

Monthly alcohol use. Nunavimmiut aged 16 to 20 years old were less likely to report monthly drinking than those aged 21 to 30 and 31 to 54 years old (59% vs. 71% and 69%, respectively). Nunavimmiut aged 21 to 30 and 31 to 54 years old were more likely to report monthly drinking than those aged 55 years and over (71% and 69% vs. 40%, respectively) (Figure 8). Those who had attended elementary school (completed or not) were less likely to report monthly drinking than those who had attended

secondary school and those who had completed secondary school or post-secondary studies (47%, 66% and 65%, respectively). People with an annual income of \$20 000 or more (68% vs. 61% for those with an annual income under \$20 000) and those residing in a large community (67% vs. 58% for those residing in a small community) were more likely to report monthly drinking. No differences were observed according to sex, marital status or coast of residence for monthly drinking (Table 4).

Figure 8 Drinking status by age (%), population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017

1. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 16-20 age group.

2. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 21-30 age group.

3. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 31-54 age group.

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully.

Monthly alcohol use was more common in 2017 than in 2004, for both men and women (Table 5). Furthermore, it was more frequent in 2017 than in 2004 for individuals aged 21 years and over, but not for those who were younger (16 to 20 years old). The difference in monthly alcohol use

between coasts observed in 2004 was no longer present in 2017, due to the important increase in the proportion of monthly drinking on the Hudson coast between the two surveys (Table 5).

Table 5Monthly drinking in the year preceding the survey according to sex, age group and coast (%), population
aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2004 and 2017

	2004	2017
Total	49.0	63.0 ¹
Sex		
Men	52.2	62.7 ¹
Women	45.6	63.3 ¹
Age group		
16-20 years	58.2	58.7
21-30 years	59.5	70.5 ¹
31-54 years	49.8	69.4 ¹
55 years and over	23.0*	40.3 ¹
Coast		
Hudson	40.2	61.0 ¹
Ungava	61.2	65.5

NOTES

Coloured cells indicate statistically significant comparisons.

1. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to 2004.

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully.

More active Nunavimmiut (reporting sitting 7 hours or less per day) were less likely to report monthly drinking (58%) than those less active (more than 7 hours sitting per day; 72%). Nunavimmiut going on the land often were less likely to report monthly drinking (59%) than those going occasionally or never (67%). All cross-tabulations with sociocultural indicators are presented in Table D (Appendix B).

No drinking. Women were more likely to report not drinking than men (21% vs. 14% for men). Nunavimmiut aged 55 and over were more likely to report not drinking than any other age group (Figure 8). Nunavimmiut having attended elementary school (completed or not) were more likely to report not drinking than those who had attended secondary school (completed or not) and those who had completed secondary school or higher (29% vs. 16% and 13%, respectively). Nunavimmiut employed at the time of the survey were less likely to report not drinking (14% vs. 23% for those not employed), as were those from large communities (15% vs. 20% for small communities). No differences were observed according to marital status, annual income or coast of residence. Cross-tabulations between drinking status and sociodemographic variables are presented in Table 4.

4.2.2 Binge drinking

Nearly three quarters (73%) of Nunavimmiut reported at least one episode of binge drinking (5 drinks or more in one occasion) in the year preceding the survey. Three out of ten Nunavimmiut (29%) reported weekly binge drinking (at least one binge drinking episode a week in the year preceding the survey). Nunavimmiut aged 16 to 20 years old were less likely than adults aged 21 to 54 to binge drink at least once a week; and those aged 55 and over were less likely to binge drink than adults aged 21 to 54 years old (Figure 9).

Figure 9 Binge drinking episodes during the 12 months preceding the survey by age group (%), population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017

1. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 16-20 age group.

2. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 55 and over age group.

3. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 21-30 age group.

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully.

Regarding sociodemographic characteristics, weekly binge drinking was more prevalent among people who had attended secondary school and those who had completed secondary school or higher, as well as among people who were currently employed and those from large communities. No differences were observed according to sex, income or coast of residence. All cross-tabulations with sociodemographic factors are presented in Table 6.

Table 6Prevalence of weekly binge drinking and problem drinking by sociodemographic characteristics (%),
population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017

	Weekly binge drinking	CAGE score of 2 or more ¹	
Total	29.4	68.5	
Sex			
Men	28.9	64.0	
Women	29.9	73.4 ²	
Age group			
16-20 years	24.0	56.3	
21-30 years	37.7 ^{3,4}	72.4 ^{3,4}	
31-54 years	33.6 ^{3,4}	74.7 ^{3,4}	
55 years and over	12.0 ^{*3}	55.5	
Marital status			
Single	32.1	67.0	
Married or common law	27.2	69.0	
Separated, divorced or widowed	30.7*	75.0	
Education			
Elementary school or less	18.7*	62.1	
Secondary school not completed	30.9 ⁵	69.5	
Secondary school or higher	30.6 ⁵	69.4	
Employment			
Employed	33.4 ²	71.0 ²	
Not employed	20.7	63.2	
Income			
Less than \$20 000	27.0	66.1	
\$20 000 or more	31.2	68.2	
Community size			
Large	34.3 ²	65.9 ²	
Small	22.8	72.2	
Coast			
Hudson	28.3	65.6 ²	
Ungava	30.9	72.3	

NOTES

Coloured cells indicate statistically significant comparisons.

1. Among only those who had drunk alcohol in the year preceding the survey.

2. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the other group.

3. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 16-20 age group.

4. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 55 and over age group.

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully.

The frequency of binge drinking episodes did not appear to vary according to sociocultural indicators, as presented in Table D (Appendix B). Weekly binge drinking was more prevalent in 2017 (29%) compared to 2004 (18%). A higher prevalence was seen in both sexes, among residents of the Hudson coast and among adults aged 21 to 54 years old (Table 7).

Table 7Prevalence of weekly binge drinking by sex, age group and coast (%), population aged 16 and over,
Nunavik, 2004 and 2017

	2004	2017
Total	18.0	29.41
Sex		
Men	18.7	28.9 ¹
Women	17.3	29.9 ¹
Age group		
16-20 years	21.5	24.0
21-30 years	22.8	37.7 ¹
31-54 years	19.2	33.6 ¹
55 years and over	4.7**	12.0*
Coast		
Hudson	10.7	28.5 ¹
Ungava	27.8	30.9

NOTES

Coloured cells indicate statistically significant comparisons.

1. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to 2004.

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully.

** The coefficient of variation is greater than 25%. The proportion is shown for information only.

4.2.3 Potential problem drinking

Problem drinking is often defined in terms of adverse consequences on the person's family, social life and professional activities. The CAGE is a screening tool composed of four questions to identify people with a potential drinking problem. In *Qanuilirpitaa*? 2017, most of those who reported drinking in the year preceding the survey felt they should reduce their consumption and expressed guilt about their drinking. Nearly half of Nunavimmiut (46%) who had drunk alcohol in the year preceding the survey reported being annoyed by people's criticism of their drinking (Table 8).

Table 8Perception of alcohol use among people who drank in the past year: items of the CAGE screening tool
(% yes) by sex, population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017

	Men	Women	Total
Ever felt that you should cut down on your drinking	69.3	75.4	72.2
Ever been annoyed by people criticizing your drinking	41.7 ¹	51.0	46.1
Ever felt bad or guilty about your drinking	57.2 ¹	72.0	64.3
Ever had a drink first thing in the morning to steady	34.6	32 9	77.8
your nerves or get rid of a hangover	54.0	52.5	55.0

NOTES

Coloured cells indicate statistically significant comparisons.

1. Statistically significant difference observed between men and women using the 5% threshold.

Problem drinking. Using a standard cut-off score of two (CAGE), a high proportion (69%) of people who had used alcohol in the year preceding the survey were considered at risk of having had problem drinking in their life. According to that measure, women were more likely to be at risk of problem drinking than men (Table 6). Nunavimmiut aged between 21 and 54 were more likely to be at risk of problem drinking than those under 20 years old or aged 55 years

and over (Figure 10). Nunavimmiut employed at the time of the survey were also more likely to report problem drinking than those not employed. Nunavimmiut living in large communities and those living on the Hudson coast were less likely to be at risk. No differences were observed according to sex, marital status and annual income. All cross-tabulations with sociodemographic factors are presented in Table 6.

Figure 10 Prevalence of potential problem drinking among people who had drunk alcohol in the year preceding the survey (%) by age group, Nunavik, 2017

NOTES

1. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 16-20 age group.

2. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 55 and over age group.

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully.

** The coefficient of variation is greater than 25%. The proportion is shown for information only.

The proportion of Nunavimmiut who had drunk alcohol in the year prior to the survey and were at risk of problems related to their alcohol consumption was significantly higher in 2017 than in 2004, based on the same questionnaire. The increase in proportions between the two survey periods was observed among both men and women, Nunavimmiut aged between 21 and 54 years old and Nunavimmiut on both coasts (Table 9).

23

Table 9Prevalence of potential problem drinking (CAGE of 2 or more) among people who had drunk alcohol
in the year preceding the survey by sex, age group and coast (%), Nunavik, 2004 and 2017

	2004	2017
Total	49.6	67.9 ¹
Sex		
Men	46.9	63.6 ¹
Women	52.5	72.1 ¹
Age group		
16-20 years	45.4	56.3
21-30 years	53.9	72.4 ¹
31-54 years	53.2	74.7 ¹
55 years and over	37.8*	55.5
Coast		
Hudson	40.9	64.9 ¹
Ungava	59.2	71.9 ¹

Coloured cells indicate statistically significant comparisons.

Proportions for comparison between 2004 and 2017 are age-adjusted.

1. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to 2004.

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully.

Nunavimmiut reporting more social support (three or four types) were more likely to be at risk of potential problem drinking (76% vs. 67%). All cross-tabulations with sociocultural factors are presented in Table D, Appendix B.

Nunavimmiut with a score of 3 or 4 on the CAGE scale represented more than a third of those who had drunk alcohol in the past year (43%). Cross-tabulations with sociodemographic and sociocultural indicators yielded results similar to those obtained with the cut-off of two or more (data not shown).

4.3 DRUG USE

Drug use is the consumption of any psychoactive substance, excluding alcohol and tobacco, by any means (ingesting, smoking, vaping, injecting, etc.). Drugs have many short- and long-term effects, largely depending on the substance consumed, how it is consumed and the quantity consumed. The short-term effects of many drugs consist of changes in wakefulness/dizziness, heart rate and mood as well as overdose in the most extreme cases (National Institute on Drug Abuse, 2017). Long-term effects include heart and lung diseases, cancer, mental illness and addiction. The indirect consequences of drug use are present in many dimensions of life, including academic achievement, employment, relationships and involvement with the justice system (National Institute on Drug Abuse, 2017). Cannabis use is associated with lower cognitive abilities (judgment, attention, memory) and increased frequency of mental health conditions (depression, anxiety, psychotic symptoms) (Gouvernement du Québec, 2019). When smoked, cannabis exposes the user to numerous harmful substances, including carcinogens. Cannabis smoke can also aggravate respiratory diseases (Gouvernement du Québec, 2019). Frequent cannabis use is associated with adverse health outcomes and risk of addiction, particularly among people 30 years old and under. Injection drug and opioid use is associated with skin infections (abscesses), HIV and hepatitis C infections, more frequent hospitalizations, overdoses and death (Binswanger et al., 2008; Palepu et al., 2001).

4.3.1 Prevalence of lifetime drug use

About 85% of Nunavimmiut have used drugs (psychoactive substances, excluding alcohol and tobacco) at one point in their lifetime and a greater prevalence was observed in men (89% vs. 81% for women). Men aged between 21 and 54 years old were more likely to have used drugs in their lifetime compared to men aged 16 to 20 and 55 and over. Women aged 55 and over were less likely to have used drugs in their lifetime compared to younger women (68% vs. more than 80% for younger women) (Table E, Appendix B). Nunavimmiut who had attended or completed elementary school were less likely to have used drugs in their lifetime (75%) than those who had attended but not

completed secondary school (86%) and those who had completed secondary school or higher (89%). Those with an annual income of \$20 000 or more were more likely to have used drugs in their life than those with an income under \$20 000 (88% vs. 82%). All cross-tabulations with sociodemographic factors are presented in Table E (Appendix B). Lifetime use of solvents (glue, gasoline or propane) was reported by 29% of Nunavimmiut. The proportion was higher among men (36%) than women (22%). Differences in lifetime solvent use according to age were observed: individuals aged 20 and under were less likey to report any solvent use than those aged 21 years and over (Figure 11). Nunavimmiut with a lower income (less than \$20 000) were less likely to have used solvent in their life (25%) than those with a higher income (33%), as were residents of the Ungava coast (22%) compared to those from the Hudson coast (35%) (Table E, Appendix B).

NOTES

1. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 16-20 age group.

2. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 55 and over age group.

3. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 31-54 age group.

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully.

** The coefficient of variation is greater than 25%. The proportion is shown for information only.

4.3.2 Cannabis use

Cannabis was the drug most frequently consumed, with 63% of the population having used it in the year preceding the survey. One third of Nunavimmiut reported daily use of cannabis, with men being significantly more likely to report daily cannabis use than women (Figure 12). Men and women under 21 years old were more likely to report daily cannabis use as were single people compared to people who were married or in a common-law relationship.

Individuals who had attended but not completed secondary school were more likely to report daily cannabis use when compared to those who had completed secondary school. This was also the case of individuals with a lower income. A greater proportion of residents of the Hudson coast declared daily cannabis use compared to those of the Ungava coast. In addition, cannabis use during the past year was more frequent in small communities than in large ones. All cross-tabulations with sociodemographic factors are presented in Table 10.

a. Regular use: more than once a month, but not daily.

b. Occasional use: less than once a month.

1. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to women.

The prevalence of cannabis use in the previous year was compared between the *Qanuippitaa*? 2004 and *Qanuilirpitaa*? 2017 surveys. The prevalence of cannabis use among women was higher in 2017 than in 2004, but no difference was observed among men. In addition, the proportion of Nunavimmiut reporting use was higher among people aged 55 and over in 2017 compared to 2004 (Table 11).

	Cannabis use				
	(% yes)	Daily	Regular ^a	Occasional ^b	Abstinence
Total	63.5	31.6	16.5	15.3	36.5
Sex					
Men	73.6 ¹	37.4 ¹	19.7 ¹	16.5	26.4 ¹
Women	53.2	25.9	13.2	14.1	46.8
Age group					
Men					
16-20 years	77.5	46.8 ^{2,3}	12.8 ^{*2}	17.9*	22.5 ^{*3}
21-30 years	73.6	42.1	11.8 ^{**2}	19.6* ³	26.4*
31-54 years	77.7	33.3	26.5	17.9 ^{*3}	22.3 ^{*3}
55 years and over	60.5	30.1*	22.7*	7.7**	39.5
Women					
16-20 years	69.2 ^{2,3}	34 .4 ^{2,3}	16.9 ^{*3}	17.9 ^{*3}	30.8 ^{2,3}
21-30 years	61.3 ^{2,3}	29.7 ³	14.8*	16.8 ³	38.7 ^{2,3}
31-54 years	49.8 ³	23.2	12.9	13.7*	50.2 ³
55 years and over	32.2	17.4**	7.8**	7.0**	67.8
Marital status			_		
Single	73.7	36.8	18.0	18.9	26.3
Married or common law	56.7 ⁴	28.3 ⁴	15.4	13.14	43.3 ⁴
Separated, divorced or widowed	52.4 ⁴	25.9*	16.4**	10.1**	47.6 ⁴
Education			_		
Elementary school or less	58.4	30.0	16.2*	12.2*	41.6
Secondary school not completed	68.1 ⁵	36.O ⁵	18.2	13.9 ⁵	31.9 ⁵
Secondary school or higher	57.4	24.2	13.5*	19.7	42.6
Employment					
Employed	61.4	30.5	14.9	15.9	38.6
Not employed	67.4	33.6	19.4	14.3	32.6
Income			_		
Less than \$20 000	67.7 ¹	35.7 ¹	17.2	14.7	32.3 ¹
\$20 000 or more	59.3	27.1	16.0	16.2	40.7
Community size					
Large	60.5 ¹	32.2	15.0	13.3 ¹	39.5 ¹
Small	67.6	30.9	18.5	18.2	32.4
Coast					
Hudson	62.2	35.5 ¹	15.3	11.9 ¹	37.8
Ungava	65.1	27.2	18.1	19.8	34.9

 Table 10
 Prevalence of cannabis use in the previous year by sociodemographic factors (%), population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017

NOTES

Coloured cells indicate statistically significant comparisons.

a. Regular use: more than once a month, but not daily.

b. Occasional use: less than once a month.

1. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the other group.

2. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 31-54 age group.

3. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 55 and over age group.

4. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to single Nunavimmiut.

5. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to Nunavimmiut who had completed secondary school or higher.

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully.

** The coefficient of variation is greater than 25%. The proportion is shown for information only.

27

Table 11Prevalence of cannabis use in the year preceding the survey according to sex, age group and coast (%),
population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2004 and 2017

	2004	2017
Total	57.7	63.5 ¹
Sex		
Men	70.3	73.6
Women	44.3	53.2 ¹
Age group		
16-20 years	79.5	73.7
21-30 years	69.3	67.0
31-54 years	59.2	63.7
55 years and over	16.7*	47.2 ¹
Coast		
Hudson	57.0	62.2
Ungava	58.4	65.1 ¹

Coloured cells indicate statistically significant comparisons.

1. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to 2004.

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully.

Nunavimmiut who reported higher levels of cultural identity (58% vs. 66% for lower levels) and higher social support (58% vs. 65% for lower levels) were less likely to have used cannabis in the year preceding the survey. Those who reported higher levels of family cohesion were also less likely to have used cannabis (56% vs. 67% for lower levels). Nunavimmiut who went on the land more often were less likely to have used cannabis in the year preceding the survey (59%) than those who occasionally or never went (67%). Those who always or often participated in community activities were also less likely to have used cannabis (56%) compared to those who participated less frequently (69%). All cross-tabulations with sociocultural factors are presented in Table F, Appendix B.

Abstinence. More women and more Nunavimmiut aged 55 years and over had not used cannabis in the year prior to the survey. Married and common-law partners and separated, divorced or widowed Nunavimmiut were more likely than single people to have abstained from cannabis use in the past year. Nunavimmiut who had attended but not completed secondary school and those with an annual income under \$20 000 were less likely to be abstainers. All cross-tabulations with sociodemographic factors are presented in Table 10.

4.3.3 Other drug use

A question on the non-medical use of medication was added to the *Qanuilirpitaa*? 2017 survey. About 1.7% of the population had used or tried prescribed (including opioids) or over-the-counter medication (i.e., Valium, Ativan, Xanax, Ritalin, Concerta, Dilaudid, Codeine, Oxycontin or Purple drank) in excess of the directions or for non-medical use in the year preceding the survey. This proportion should be interpreted with caution since the coefficient of variation is greater than 15%. Comparisons according to sociodemographic factors were not possible because of the low prevalence of this behaviour.

Table 12 presents the use of other drugs (excluding cannabis, solvents and non-medically used medication) in the past 12 months. Thirteen percent (13%) of Nunavimmiut reported having used other drugs in the past 12 months. Men were more likely to have used other drugs compared to women (15% vs. 10%), as well as residents living along the Ungava coast (18% vs. 8% for the Hudson coast). However, these results should be interpreted carefully given the high coefficient of variation values.

Cocaine was the most frequently used substance among "other drugs": about 7% of the population had used it in the past 12 months. Cocaine was more frequently used among residents of the Ungava coast (11%) compared to those of the Hudson coast (4%*). Given the low prevalence of reported injection drug use in the past 12 months, it was not possible to determine the proportion of individuals who had shared needles when using injection drugs.

Drugs	Total	Men	Women
Any other drug (excluding cannabis, solvents and non-medically used medication)	12.5	15.3	9.6
Cocaine (coke, snow, crack or freebase)	7.1	7.3*	6.8
Ecstasy (E, XTC or X)	1.0**	1.4**	NP
Amphetamines/methamphetamines (speed, peanut, crystal, meth or ice)	3.8*	4.1**	3.6*
Hallucinogens (PCP, LSD, acid, mushrooms or mescaline)	0.9**	NP	0.8**
Heroin (smack, crank)	0.5**	NP	NP
Injection drugs	NP	NP	NP

Table 12 Other drugs used in the past 12 months by sex (%), population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017

NOTES

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully.

** The coefficient of variation is greater than 25%. The proportion is shown for information only.

NP: Data not presented due to small number of respondents.

4.3.4 Potential drug abuse problem

While drug use of any kind - whether experimental, recreational or abusive - poses risks to a person's health, it may also cause adverse consequences on the person's family, friends and community. Such impacts are used to identify people at risk of drug abuse, as opposed to those who engage in experimental or recreational drug use. Among Nunavimmiut who had used drugs in the year prior to the survey, 79% reported being unable to stop using drugs when they wanted to and 44% felt bad or guilty about their drug use. Thirty-three percent (33%) of Nunavimmiut who had used drugs in the year preceding the survey reported friction with family members, while 14% reported neglecting their family because of their drug use. Additionally, 15% had had blackouts or flashbacks as a result of drug use, 21% had experienced withdrawal symptoms and 9% reported linked medical problems (memory loss, convulsions, bleeding).

The DAST-10 is a drug abuse screening tool composed of 10 questions (requiring a yes/no answer) relating to drug use in the year preceding the survey (see Appendix A, question 28). Participants answering yes to at least one question were considered at risk of potential drug abuse problems. Nearly one third of Nunavimmiut who had used drugs in the year preceding the survey were at risk of

potential drug abuse problems (32%). Those aged 30 years and under were at higher risk of drug abuse problems than Nunavimmiut aged 31 years of age and older (Figure 13). Nunavimmiut reporting daily cannabis use were more likely to be at risk of potential drug abuse problems (39%) than those reporting occasional use (17%**) or experimental use (18%*). Among Nunavimmiut who had consumed drugs at some point during their lifetime, single people were more likely to be at risk of potential drug abuse problems than Nunavimmiut who were married or in a common-law relationship (40% vs. 23%). Nunavimmiut who had attended elementary school or less (39%*) and those who had attended but not completed secondary school (35%) were more likely to be at risk than those who had completed secondary school or higher (22%*). The risk was higher as well among Nunavimmiut with a lower annual income (under \$20 000; 38%) compared to those with a higher income (20%). Residents of the Ungava coast were also more likely to be at risk of potential drug abuse problems (36%) than residents of the Hudson coast (28%). No differences were observed according to sex, employment or community size. Nunavimmiut reporting higher levels (top 30%) of family cohesion were less likely to be at risk of potential drug abuse problems (24% vs. 35%). All cross-tabulations with sociodemographic and sociocultural factors are presented in Table E and Table F, Appendix B.

1. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 16-20 age group.

2. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 21-30 age group.

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully.

** The coefficient of variation is greater than 25%. The proportion is shown for information only.

4.4 HARM PERCEPTION AND HELP SEEKING

4.4.1 Harm perception of tobacco and cannabis use

Harm perception of regular tobacco smoking. Most Nunavimmiut perceived that regular tobacco smoking poses great (61%) or moderate (19%) risks. One-fifth (13%) perceived a slight risk, and one in ten did not think regular tobacco smoking poses any risks (8%). The younger group (under 21 years old) was more likely to believe tobacco smoking poses no risks than people aged 31 to 54 years and 55 years and over (Figure 14). The same is true of people who had attended elementary school or less ($13\%^{**}$) and those who had not attended or completed secondary school (13%) compared to secondary school graduates ($4\%^{*}$).

Figure 14 Harm perception of regular tobacco smoking by age (% yes), population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017

1. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 16-20 age group.

2. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 55 and over age group.

3. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 21-30 age group.

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully.

 ** The coefficient of variation is greater than 25%. The proportion is shown for information only.

Harm perception of cannabis smoking. The majority of Nunavimmiut believed that smoking cannabis poses a great risk (27%) or a moderate risk (29%). About one in five (21%) believed smoking cannabis poses no risk (Figure 15). Women were more likely to believe smoking cannabis poses great risk (35%) than men (19%), as were older Nunavimmiut (18% of those aged 16 to 30 years old, 28% of those aged 31 to 54 years old and 48% of those aged 55 and over). Nearly half (48%) of those who had only attended or completed elementary school believed smoking cannabis causes great risk or harm, which is more than among people who had only attended secondary school (22%) and those who had completed secondary school or higher (29%).

Figure 15 Harm perception of regular cannabis smoking by age (% yes), population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017

1. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 16-20 age group.

2. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 55 and over age group.

3. Statisically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 21-30 age group.

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully.

4.4.2 Help or treatment for alcohol or drug use

About one out of five Nunavimmiut had sought help or treatment (including self-help groups and professionals such as doctors, nurses or counselors) for their alcohol or drug use in their lifetime (17%), with no difference being observed between men and women. Single (20%) and separated, divorced or widowed (34%*) Nunavimmiut were

more likely to have sought help or treatment than those who were married or in a common-law relationship (13%). No differences were observed according to sex, education, employment, annual income, community size or coast of residence (data not shown).

DISCUSSION

Nunavik has a high smoking prevalence, with more than seven out of ten Nunavimmiut reporting smoking on a daily basis (72%). In comparison, 11% of Canadians were daily smokers in 2017 (Statistics Canada, 2017). Furthermore, in contrast with a downward trend observed in the general Canadian population between 1999 and 2017 (Reid et al., 2019), the prevalence of daily tobacco smoking in Nunavik in 2017 remained unchanged relative to the Qanuippitaa? 2004 survey. In 2017, differences in the prevalence of daily smoking were observed according to age, with younger and mid-age Nunavimmiut being more likely to smoke tobacco than older Nunavimmiut. The high prevalence of daily smoking among youth is a concern considering the increased risk of multiple health issues associated in the long run with regular smoking (e.g., increased risk of lung cancer and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease) (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 1994).

Electronic cigarette use in the Nunavik population was documented for the first time in this survey. Far less popular than tobacco smoking, electronic cigarette smoking was used by 12% of Nunavik's population in the last 12 months. This is similar to electronic cigarette use in the general Canadian population, where 12% reported having used electronic cigarettes and 5% reported using them currently in 2017 (Statistics Canada, 2017). Nunavimmiut under 21 years old, as well as men in general were more likely to have used electronic cigarettes in the year preceding the survey. In keeping with the results of recent studies indicating that smoking status is associated with electronic cigarette use (Hedman et al., 2018; Jaber et al., 2018), Nunavimmiut who smoke cigarettes (daily or occasionally) were more likely to have used electronic cigarettes than non-smokers. Smoking prevention in Nunavik needs to tackle this new form of nicotine consumption.

In addition to being harmed by actively inhaling cigarette smoke, families and friends of smokers, particularly infants and children, are affected by second-hand smoke (World Health Organization, 2019b). Results from the present survey indicate that more than a quarter of Nunavimmiut were exposed to second-hand smoke every day or nearly every day. This is similar to the proportion of houses where indoor smoking was allowed at the time of the Qanuippitaa? 2004 survey. Exposure to second-hand smoke in the home was associated with living conditions, notably with lower income and residing in large communities. This is of particular concern given the housing crisis in Nunavik, where nearly half the population lives in crowded houses (Déry & Zoungrana, 2009). Resources and guidelines have been developed to reduce exposure to second-hand smoke in the house (Health Canada, 2015). If adaptable to the Nunavik context, these guidelines could be an interesting tool to protect all members of the family, particularly children and youth.

A third of smokers in Nunavik had tried to guit smoking in the year preceding the survey. Occasional smokers were more likely to have tried to quit than daily smokers, as were younger Nunavimmiut. It is noteworthy that despite similarly high proportions of daily smokers in all age groups, Nunavimmiut aged 16 to 20 years old were more likely to have tried to quit in the year preceding the survey. Youth represent the majority of Nunavik's population. Therefore, reducing the tobacco smoking rate among youth - by limiting initiation or through cessation - is of particular importance. The impact of several types of smoking cessation campaigns targeting youth, notably social media campaigns, social environment changes and community interventions, have been studied in various populations (Lantz et al., 2000). Long-term investments, participation of community leaders and culturally appropriate interventions have been identified as key elements to produce desired changes in Indigenous populations (Zhang, Sleeper, Schwartz, & Chaiton, 2018). Most smokers did not use any specific method to quit smoking (cold turkey), but when they did, the most popular sources of help and support were family members or support programs, and spiritual or traditional methods. Nicotine replacement therapy (gum, patches) was used by less than a third of smokers trying to quit. Assistance in smoking cessation efforts is associated with increased chances of quitting successfully. The World Health Organization (WHO) has identified, in increasing order of effectiveness, many smoking cessation interventions: individual behavioural counseling, health care professional intervention/advice, group behaviour therapy and medication (nicotine replacement therapy, etc.) (World Health Organization, 2020).

Most Nunavimmiut reported drinking in the year prior to the survey (83%). In comparison, 78% of Canadians were considered drinkers in the 2017 Canadian Tobacco, Alcohol and Drugs Survey (Statistics Canada, 2017). Nunavimmiut under 21 years old and those 55 years old and over were less likely to report weekly drinking than adults aged 21 to 54. Regular alcohol use was associated with greater monetary resources (higher income and employment). People spending less time sitting and those going on the land more often were less likely to report monthly drinking. Regular alcohol use was higher in 2017 than in the Qanuippitaa? 2004 survey for people older than 21, but not for 16-20 year olds. The difference in alcohol use between coasts observed in 2004 - a possible consequence of the higher number of communities with no local alcohol sales on the Hudson coast at the timewas no longer present in 2017. While ways to legally access alcoholic beverages have increased over the years for Nunavimmiut, bootlegging of hard liquor continues to be a concern for local authorities.

Binge drinking increases the risk of several physical adverse outcomes (e.g., damage to the liver, structural changes to the brain) (Molina & Nelson, 2018). It is also a wellestablished risk factor for interpersonal violence perpetration and victimization. The majority of Nunavimmiut reported at least one binge drinking episode in the year preceding the survey, with 29% reporting at least one binge drinking episode per week. The prevalence of weekly binge drinking among Nunavimmiut is higher than what was noted in the Canadian population (7%) in 2017 (Statistics Canada, 2017). Adults aged 21 to 54 reported the highest prevalence of weekly binge drinking (about a third). Nevertheless, one in four Nunavimmiut aged 16 to 20 years old also reported weekly binge drinking episodes. Previous research has shown that binge drinking is associated with enhancement motives (increased positive states or emotional experiences) among adolescent Nunavimmiut (Decaluwe, Fortin, Moisan, Muckle, & Belanger, 2019). Their access to high-percentage alcoholic beverages poses increased risks. The finding that higher social support was associated with more frequent alcohol consumption and binge drinking in Nunavik could be explained by greater access to alcohol and more opportunities to drink among individuals with a larger social circle.

Two thirds (69%) of Nunavimmiut were at risk of problem drinking. This proportion is higher than the one observed in the *Qanuippitaa*? 2004 survey. Adults aged between 21 and 54 were more likely to be at risk of problem drinking. Some limitations of the CAGE screening tool should be taken into account when interpreting these results. First, items of the CAGE screening tool are evaluated on a lifetime basis. Therefore, it is possible that some individuals self-identifying as at risk of problem drinking have actually been at risk at some point in their lives but would no longer have been considered at risk during the year prior to the survey. Second, validation studies have suggested that the CAGE screening tool may not be that useful for detecting problem drinking in populations where binge drinking is prevalent (Dhalla & Kopec, 2007). Third, the CAGE screening tool has never been validated in Inuit populations. Nevertheless, it was used in the present survey to allow comparisons with the same instrument in 2004. Interventions to reduce alcohol use have been shown to be effective in a variety of settings, from primary care to school-based programs (Hennessy & Tanner-Smith, 2015; Kaner et al., 2018). Based on Canada's Low-Risk Alcohol Drinking Guidelines, the Let's Be Aware campaign was designed to specifically address alcohol use in Nunavut (Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction, 2018; Government of Nunavut, 2019).

More than half of the population of Nunavik reported using cannabis in the year preceding the survey. The prevalence of cannabis use among Nunavimmiut during that year was about three times higher than what was reported for the general Canadian population (15%) (Statistics Canada, 2017). The prevalence of cannabis use observed in the present survey was higher than that reported for women in *Qanuippitaa*? 2004. However, men were still more likely to use cannabis than women in 2017.

Nearly one third of Nunavimmiut had used cannabis on a daily basis during the year prior to the survey, with men and younger people being more likely to do so. The prevalence was much higher than that found in the general Canadian population for the previous three months (4% reported daily or almost daily use) (Statistics Canada, 2017). A higher level of social support was associated with a lower prevalence of cannabis use. Frequently going on the land and frequent participation in community activities were also associated with a lower prevalence of cannabis use, highlighting the importance of culturally relevant opportunities in one's life.

About one-third (32%) of Nunavimmiut who had used drugs in the year prior to the survey were at risk of potential drug abuse problems. Nunavimmiut aged 30 and under were particularly at risk. Unsurprisingly, those reporting daily cannabis use were those with the highest proportion of potential drug abuse problems. Such problems were assessed with the Drug Abuse Screening Test (DAST), a questionnaire designed to evaluate potential abuse of any drug in the general population. The validity of the test within the Inuit population remains to be proven. Initiatives such as the Trauma-informed substance use screening and assessment tools for First Nations and Inuit peoples (EENT, 2016) could lead to the development of a questionnaire that is better suited to examining the extent of problematic substance use among Inuit, within both care settings and health surveys.

Previous research suggests that people with lower-risk use behaviours are not only protected from the adverse effects of substance use on their physical and psychological health, but they can also have a positive influence on their relatives' and friends' substance use (Andrews, Tildesley, Hops, & Li, 2002). Abstainers were found in higher proportions in specific subgroups. Women were more likely than men to abstain from alcohol and cannabis use. Older Nunavimmiut, as well as those with higher annual income, were more likely to abstain from cannabis.

While a majority of Nunavimmiut were aware of the harmful consequences of smoking tobacco or using cannabis, 10% to 20 % did not believe that regular tobacco or cannabis smoking causes harm to those who expose themselves to these substances. Young Nunavimmiut (under 30 years old) were more likely to underestimate the risks associated with tobacco or cannabis smoking. Low harm perception was associated with an increased prevalence of use, which may partly explain the high prevalence of tobacco and cannabis use among Nunavimmiut aged 30 years old and less (Strong et al., 2019). At the same time, perceptions offer a great opportunity for large audience preventive interventions (Hawkins, Johnson, Denzel, Tercyak, & Mays, 2017).

Prevention and resources for help and treatment are essential to reduce the burden that substance use poses on Nunavik individuals, families and communities. The Nunalituqait Ikajuqatigiitut (NI) Inuit Association was established in 1987 and has been focusing, for more than 30 years now, on the development of Inuit expertise and capacity in the prevention of addictions and substance abuse throughout Nunavik (Nunalituqait Ikajuqatigiitut Inuit Association). Results from *Qanuilirpitaa*? 2017 showed that one Nunavimmiut out of five has sought help or treatment for alcohol or drug use in their lifetime; however, access to such services is difficult in Nunavik. The Isuarsivik recovery centre located in Kuujjuag, which has been offering culturally adapted rehabilitation services since 1990, can currently only accommodate a maximum number of 80 clients annually because of limited material resources (Société Makivik, Conseil jeunesse Qarjuit, 2017). The opening of a new building, scheduled for 2021, will allow the center to better answer the needs of Nunavimmiut, notably by expanding family support, onthe-land counseling and inpatient treatment. Community leaders have also started the Saguijug project, which is aimed at reducing the impact of substance use and strengthening resources through a community approach (Société Makivik, Conseil jeunesse Qarjuit, 2017). Such community-based and culturally appropriate interventions have been shown to be effective in reducing substance use (Zhang et al., 2018).

This report provides an updated profile of substance use in Nunavik. The Qanuilirpitaa? 2017 survey confirms that substance use remains widespread in Nunavik. Indeed, the majority of Nunavimmiut reported having used tobacco, alcohol or cannabis in the year preceding the survey. Substance use has been and remains an important challenge for Nunavik communities: the prevalence of substance use is not lower than in the *Qanuippitaa*? 2004 survey. Accordingly, the rates observed are still higher than those observed in the general Canadian population. Youth are particularly at risk because of the underestimation of harmful effects coupled with the high prevalence of substance use and the higher risk of excessive or problematic use. Further multivariate analyses are required to clearly identify the key risk and protective factors of substance use.

REFERENCES

Andrews, J. A., Tildesley, E., Hops, H., & Li, F. (2002). The influence of peers on young adult substance use. *Health Psychology*. Andrews, Judy A.: Oregon Research Inst, 1715 Franklin Boulevard, Eugene, OR, US, 97403-1983, judy@ori.org: American Psychological Association. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.21.4.349</u>

Binswanger, I. A., Takahashi, T. A., Bradley, K., Dellit, T. H., Benton, K. L., & Merrill, J. O. (2008). Drug users seeking emergency care for soft tissue infection at high risk for subsequent hospitalization and death. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 69(6), 924–932. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2008.69.924

Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. (2018). Canada's Low-Risk Alcohol Drinking Guidelines. Retrieved from https://www.ccsa.ca/canadas-low-risk-alcohol-drinkingguidelines-brochure

Cameron, E. (2011). State of the knowledge: Inuit public health 2011. Retrieved from https://www.nccih.ca/docs/context/RPT-InuitPublicHealth-Cameron-EN.pdf

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (1994). Preventing tobacco use among young people: a report of the Surgeon General (Executive Summary). Retrieved from <u>https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/PDF/rr/rr4304.pdf</u>

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2014). The Health Consequences of Smoking: 50 Years of Progress—A Report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta.

Decaluwe, B., Fortin, M., Moisan, C., Muckle, G., & Belanger, R. (2019). Drinking motives supporting binge drinking of Inuit adolescents. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 110(4), 414–421. https://doi.org/10.17269/s41997-019-00212-5

Déry, S., & Zoungrana, H. (2009). The Housing Situation in Nunavik: A Public Health Priority.

Dhalla, S., & Kopec, J. A. (2007). The CAGE questionnaire for alcohol misuse: a review of reliability and validity studies. *Clinical and Investigative Medicine*. *Medecine Clinique et Experimentale*, 30(1), 33. https://doi.org/10.25011/cim.v30i1.447

EENet - Evidence Exchange Network for Mental Health

and Addictions. (2016). Trauma-Informed Substance Use Screening And Assessment Tools For First Nations And Inuit Peoples Project. [online] Retrieved from: https://www.eenet.ca/resource/trauma-informedsubstance-use-screening-and-assessment-tools-firstnations-and-inuit

Fiellin, D. A., Reid, M. C., & O'Connor, P. G. (2000). Screening for Alcohol Problems in Primary Care: A Systematic Review. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 160(13), 1977–1989.

https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.160.13.1977

First Nations Centre. OCAP®: Ownership, Control, Access and Possession. Sanctioned by the First Nations Information Governance Committee, Assembly of First Nations. Ottawa: National Aboriginal Health Organization. 2007.

Gouvernement du Québec. (2019). Health Risks of Cannabis Use. Retrieved from <u>https://encadrementcannabis.gouv.qc.ca/en/le-</u> <u>cannabis/consequences-negatives-possibles-sur-la-</u> <u>sante-de-la-consommation-reguliere-de-cannabis/</u>

Government of Nunavut. (2019). Let's Be Aware. Retrieved from <u>https://www.responsiblenunavut.ca/en</u>

Hamel, D., Hamel, G., Gagnon, S. (2020). *Methodological Report*. Nunavik Inuit Health Survey 2017 *Qanuilirpitaa*? How are we now? Quebec: Nunavik Regional Board of Health and Social Services (NRBHSS) & Institut national de santé publique du Québec (INSPQ).

Hawkins, K. B., Johnson, A. C., Denzel, M., Tercyak, K. P., & Mays, D. (2017). Adolescents Awareness and Perceptions of E-Cigarettes: Implications for Intervention and Tobacco Regulation. *Pediatrics*, 140(1 MeetingAbstract), 132. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.140.1_MeetingAbstract.132

Health Canada. (2015). Make Your Home and Car Smokefree. Ottawa. Retrieved from

https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/canada/healthcanada/migration/healthy-canadians/publications/ healthy-living-vie-saine/smoke-free-brochure-sansfumee/alt/smoke-free-brochure-sans-fumee-eng.pdf **Hedman**, L., Backman, H., Stridsman, C., Bosson, J. A., Lundbäck, M., Lindberg, A., Ekerljung, L. (2018). Association of Electronic Cigarette Use With Smoking Habits, Demographic Factors, and Respiratory Symptoms. *JAMA Network Open*, 1(3), e180789–e180789. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.0789

Hennessy, E. A., & Tanner-Smith, E. E. (2015). Effectiveness of Brief School-Based Interventions for Adolescents: A Meta-analysis of Alcohol Use Prevention Programs. *Prevention Science*, 16(3), 463-474. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-014-0512-0

Higenbottam, T., Shipley, M. T., Clark, T. J. H., & Rose, G. (1980). Lung Function and Symptoms of Cigarette Smokers Related to Tar Yield and Number of Cigarettes Smoked. *The Lancet*, 315(8165), 409-412. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(80)90955-1

Jaber, R. M., Mirbolouk, M., DeFilippis, A. P., Maziak, W., Keith, R., Payne, T., ... Nasir, K. (2018). Electronic Cigarette Use Prevalence, Associated Factors, and Pattern by Cigarette Smoking Status in the United States From NHANES (National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey) 2013–2014. Journal of the American Heart Association, 7(14). https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.117.008178

Jennison, K. M. (2004). The Short-Term Effects and Unintended Long-Term Consequences of Binge Drinking in College: A 10-Year Follow-Up Study. *The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, 30(3), 659–684. https://doi.org/10.1081/ADA-200032331

Kaner, E., Beyer, F., Muirhead, C., Campbell, F., Pienaar, E., Bertholet, N., Burnand, B. (2018). Effectiveness of brief alcohol interventions in primary care populations. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2(2). https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD004148.pub4

Lantz, P. M., Jacobson, P. D., Warner, K. E., Wasserman, J., Pollack, H. A., Berson, J., & Ahlstrom, A. (2000). Investing in youth tobacco control: a review of smoking prevention and control strategies. *Tobacco Control*, 9(1), 47–63. https://doi.org/10.1136/tc.9.1.47

Loef, M., & Walach, H. (2012). The combined effects of healthy lifestyle behaviors on all cause mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Preventive Medicine*, 55(3), 163–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2012.06.017

Molina, P. E., & Nelson, S. (2018). Binge Drinking's Effects on the Body. *Alcohol Research: Current Reviews*, 39(1), 99–109. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30557153 **Muckle**, G., Boucher, O., Laflamme, D. (2007). Alcohol, drug use and gambling among the Inuit of Nunavik: Epidemiological profile. Nunavik Inuit Health Survey 2017 Qanuilirpitaa? How are we now? Quebec: Nunavik Regional Board of Health and Social Services (NRBHSS) & Institut national de santé publique du Québec (INSPQ).

National Institute of Drug Abuse. (2017). Health Consequences of Drug Misuse. [online] Available at: <u>https://www.drugabuse.gov/related-topics/health-</u> <u>consequences-drug-misuse</u>

Nunalituqait Ikajuqatigiitut (NI) Inuit Association. http://www.nunali.com/index.php?lang=en.

Palepu, A., Tyndall, M. W., Leon, H., Muller, J., O'Shaughnessy, M. V, Schechter, M. T., & Anis, A. H. (2001). Hospital utilization and costs in a cohort of injection drug users. *CMAJ* : *Canadian Medical Association Journal = Journal de l'Association Medicale Canadienne*, 165(4), 415–420. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11531049

Patra, J., Taylor, B., Rehm, J. T., & Baliunas, D. (2007). Substance-attributable Morbidity and Mortality Changes to Canada's Epidemiological Profile. *Canadian Journal* of Public Health, 98(3), 5–7.

Piontek, D., Kraus, L., & Klempova, D. (2008). Short scales to assess cannabis-related problems: a review of psychometric properties. Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention, and Policy, 3(1), 25. https://doi.org/10.1186/1747-597X-3-25

Ray, J. G. (2017). Reducing premature mortality among young and middle-aged adults. Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention in Canada: Research, Policy and Practice, 37(3). Retrieved from http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/publicat/hpcdppspmc/37-3/assets/pdf/ar-01-eng.pdf

Reid, J., Hammond, D., Tariq, U., Burkhalter, R., Rynard, V., & Douglas, O. (2019). Tobacco Use in Canada: Patterns and Trends, 2019 Edition. Waterloo, ON. Retrieved from <u>www.tobaccoreport.ca</u>

Skinner, H. A. (1982). The drug abuse screening test. Addictive Behaviors, 7(4), 363–371. https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4603(82)90005-3

Société Makivik, Conseil jeunesse Qarjuit, la Régie régionale de la Santé et des Services sociaux du Nunavik et Kativik Ilisarniliriniq (2017). Mémoire – Consultations particulières et auditions publiques sur le Projet de loi n° 157, Loi constituant la Société québécoise du cannabis, édictant la Loi encadrant le cannabis et modifiant diverses dispositions en matière de sécurité routière. Retrieved from

https://sencanada.ca/content/sen/committee/421/ APPA/Briefs/2018-03-15_C-45_Isuarsivik_f.pdf **Statistics Canada.** (2015). Canadian Student Tobacco, Alcohol and Drugs Survey 2014/2015. Retrieved from https://uwaterloo.ca/canadian-student-tobaccoalcohol-drugs-survey/sites/ca.canadian-studenttobacco-alcohol-drugs-survey/files/uploads/files/ cst14_qq_mod_b_english.pdf

Statistics Canada. (2017). Canadian Tobacco, Alcohol and Drugs Survey, 2017. Retrieved from Accessed through the Nestaar.

Strong, D. R., Leas, E., Elton-Marshall, T., Wackowski, O. A., Travers, M., Bansal-Travers, M., Pierce, J. P. (2019). Harm perceptions and tobacco use initiation among youth in Wave 1 and 2 of the Population Assessment of Tobacco and Health (PATH) Study. *Preventive Medicine*, 123, 185–191.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ypmed.2019.03.017

Chief Public Health Officer of Canada. (2015). Alcohol consumption in Canada.

Wong, S. (2006). Use and misuse of tobacco among Aboriginal peoples, updated 2010. *Paediatrics & Child Health*, 11(10), 681–685.

World Health Organization. Programme on Substance Abuse. (1993). Psychosocial impact of substance use on families A literature review. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/iris/handle/10665/62069 on April 14th, 2020.

World Health Organization. (2020). Quitting tobacco – Summary of effectiveness data for smoking cessation interventions. Retrieved from <u>https://www.who.int/tobacco/quitting/summary_data/en/ on April 14th, 2020.</u>

World Health Organization. (2019a). Lexicon of Alcohol and Drug Terms Published by the World Health Organization. Retrieved from <u>https://www.who.int/substance_abuse/terminology/</u> who_lexicon/en/ on April 14th, 2020.

World Health Organization. (2019b). Tobacco Fact Sheet. Retrieved from <u>https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/</u> <u>detail/tobacco on April 14th, 2020.</u>

Yudko, E., Lozhkina, O., & Fouts, A. (2007). A comprehensive review of the psychometric properties of the Drug Abuse Screening Test. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 32(2), 189–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2006.08.002

Zhang, B., Sleeper, B., Schwartz, R., & Chaiton, M. (2018). Smoking Cessation Interventions in Indigenous Populations. Retrieved from <u>https://www.otru.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/</u> <u>react_mar2018.pdf</u>

QUESTIONS ABOUT SUBSTANCE USE

ϳ·ϫ, ϤΛϞϟͶϷϫ·ͽϲͱ·ϲϥ; Ϟ;ͻͿͼ, ΔϹϤͻͱ, ϤϲʹͿϲ

3.1 ፘፘ/יחקלא

SECTION 3. Substance use and gambling

Now, there are some questions about tobacco, alcohol and other substances.

Let's start with questions about smoking

SECTION 3.1

Tobacco

ΛΓϤϲϿʹϹ ϤΛʹϞͶϧϲ ϞʹϡͰϞʹͼͿϲʹʹႱϟͼ· ϜϽϚʹϷʹͼͿϲʹʹႱϟͼϲ

- 1. <u>ἰˆຼϷ∩໌ຼ</u>Ϳ, ᢣݢ₽ᢣᢣᠯ^ᢐͿልና ϜϽϚϷᠯ^ᢐͿልና ቴϷϹἰና, ϯ. Δϲ[°]ႱჅ, ϷʹϚͻ[°]ͼና ϲϷኘͰ<u></u>ͺ[°]ϧ·ϲͺ<u>Ω</u>?
 - _ 1- ۵۵۵۵۱ ۲۲۵ ۵۲۵ ۱۰ ۵٬۵۲۲۹۰ ۵٫۱, ۵۸٬۰۱۵ ۲۰۵۰ ۲۰۰۵ ۲۰۰۵ ۲۰
 - 2- ∆د[®]لۍ ∇۲° ∆≀LJ° ∆ف⁶b∩أحد ۵°C7LJ[®] 3,1, 4∧⁶i∩J° 4J[°] CL 5J[°]D[°]
 - 3- こり^らイL[®]やアント 4&^cンイLそ[®] 3.1, 4^kⁱハJ^c 2j^c
 - ℃1~%JL49*C1~%49*C1~%J144} -99 ♪_Ĺ2 ᠈ĹŊŸ٨Ϸ ,1.٤ *۶JY2^&D

- <u>At the present time</u>, do you smoke cigarettes daily, occasionally, or not at all?
 - 1- Daily Go to PS Section 3.1 Q3 and then Q5
 - 2- Occasionally Go to PS Section 3.1 Q4 and then Q5
 - 3- Not at all Go to PS Section 3.1 Q2
 - 99- DK/NR/R Go to PS Section 3.1 Q2

- 2. <u>ϟݢᠻϟϟϞͿͽͽϹϽͽͼϜϽϔ</u>ϷϟϳͽͽϹͿͽͼͺϳͺ϶ϘͶͺͽϽ
 - ۵) ۲۶۲۶۷۶۵٬۶۲۱۵٬۶۲۷ (۵)
 - 1- לאבלאבטילנאירטאל טלפבטילנאירטאל יזר אאבלאבטילנאירטאל טלפבטילנאירטאנ מאיטרנאי 3.1, מאילחוי זער.
 - 2- ف, ۲۲۹ه ۵_۵۵٬۵۳۰ ۲۰ ۲۰۱۹ دم۱۵۵ دم۱۵۵ ۵ ۵.۱٫ ۹۸۶ دم۱۵۰ ۲۰۵۰ ۵.۱٫ ۹۸۶ ۱۰۵۰
 - 3- ά, ϤϹϷͱʹϞϤΓ· ͰʹϷΡΠΓ·ʹϽʹϲΓΓ· ΡϲϤϧ
 ΔΡ°σʹϧϭʹ 100σʹ ϲʹϷʹΡΠσ⁽/)ʹϲΡσ⁽
 (Δ°ϲϪϤΛ°σ⁽ ΔͻΔ⁽)σ⁽ 4Jc⁽))
 Δͽϲϲἰτο ¹ σ⁽)
 - 4- d, 100Le^{*}σ^c λ³PΠσ^c/D²CPσ^c
 Δ³σ⁵σ⁵σ^c (Δ^crΔαΛ^{*}σ^c Δ₂Δ^c)σ^c
 4Le^{*}σ^c)Δ³drc¹L⁵σ ∇^c Δ²LJ^c
 Δ³bΠ^c Δ³C² Δ³C²
 4³Δ²L³ Δ²σ^c
 -) 99- ₺كككك*٢ጋ[‰]/٢ك[‰]٢٦[‰]/٢كك ⊽٢° كككك حصأكةكك ك٦ 3.1, ٩٨٦نك1° كأح°
- 3. ϧϷϲϳͼ Ϟ;ϧϧϞϷͼͺϽ;ϧͼ

४&°२४८२™ 3.1 -४∧°२ं∩° 5」∼°.

- 2. For those who do not smoke at all at this time
 - a) Have you ever smoked cigarettes?
 - 1- Never smoked Go to PS Section 3.1 Q7
 - 2- Yes, but not a whole cigarette Go to PS - Section 3.1- Q7
 - 3- Yes, at least one cigarette but less than
 100 cigarettes (about 4 packs) in your
 lifetime Go to PS Section 3.1- Q7
 - 4- Yes, at least 100 cigarettes or more
 (about 4 packs) in your lifetime Go to
 PS Section 3.1 Q4 and then Q5
 - 99- DK/NR/R Go to PS Section 3.1- Q7

- 3. For those who smoke daily
 - a) At what age did you smoke your first whole cigarette?

b) At what age did you begin to smoke cigarettes <u>daily</u>?

c) How many cigarettes do you smoke each day now?

Number of cigarettes ____

99- DK/NR/R

Go to PS - Section 3.1 - Q5

- 4. ۲>۲۶۲۶،۲۵۲،۵۰۵،۲۵۲،۲۵۲،۲۵۲ ۵،۶۰۶،۲۷۶،۲۲۶،۲۲۹۰ ۵۰٬۲۵۰،۵۰۵،۲۰۲۵،۲۰۲۵ ۱۵۵۰، ۵۵٬۳۰۵،۲۰۲۵

 - ()
 - C) <u>C¹</u>(P <u>C</u> <u>O</u> <u>C</u>), ¹(C' C <u>O</u> <u>C</u>)
 C¹(C) <u>C</u>)
 <liC) <u>C</u>
 C¹(C) <u>C</u>)
 <liC) <u>C</u><

 - 🔵 1- á
 - _ 2- ۵۵۵ ۲۲٬۵۲۲٬۵۲۵ 2۵ - ۵۵٬۵۲۲۰ - 3.1 ۵٬۹۸۱ - ۲۵٬۵۰۱۰
 - ♥ 3.1 4^\i/ ۵۵% /۳۵% /۳۵% -99 10° ۵/L2° ۵۵% - 98 11 - 4^\i/ 5أر°.
 - υ, φοιρικό με το μερικού με το μερικού με το μ

- <u>C¹¹Pσ^c</u> <u>12σ^c</u> <u>4σJ¹Dσ</u>, ¹>P∩Γ^b/)
 <u>S¹¹P^c</u> <u>12σ^c</u> <u>4</u>σ¹Dσ</sub>, ¹>C¹¹P^c
 <u>S¹¹P^c</u> <u>12σ^c</u> <u>4</u>σ¹Dσ¹</sub>

 - _ 2- ۵۵۵ ۵۵۱٬۵۲ ۵۲۲ ۵۲۰ ۵۵۵ 2۰ - ۵۵٬۵۲۲ ۵۰۱٬۸۰ - ۵. ۵۰٬۵۲۴ -
 - ۵۹۲ ۵۶۲ ۲۵۰ ۲۵۴ ۹۲۵ ۵۲۵ ۵۲۵ ۵۲۵ ۹۶۰ مهان۲۰ ۵۲۲ ۵۰۲ ۵۲۲ ۵۷۵ ۱۰ ۲۰۸۰ ۲۰ 3.1 ۵۰ ۵۰۲۲۲۰ ۹۵۰ ۱۰

- For those who smoke <u>occasionally</u> or smoked at least 100 cigarettes or more (about 4 packs) in your lifetime
 - a) At what age did you smoke your first whole cigarette?

 b) On the days that you smoke (d), about how many cigarettes do (did) you usually have?

Number of cigarettes _____

c) <u>In the past month</u>, about how many days have you smoked one or more cigarettes?

Number of days _____ 99- DK/NR/R

- d) Have you ever smoked cigarettes daily?
- l- Yes
-) 2- No Go to PS Section 3.1 Q5
- 99- DK/NR/R Go to PS Section 3.1 Q5
- e) If yes, at what age did you begin to smoke cigarettes daily?

- In the past 12 months, did you stop smoking for at least 24 hours because you were trying to quit?
 - 1- Yes
 - 2- No If no, go to PS Section 3.1 Q7
 - 99- DK/NR/R Go to PS Section 3.1 Q7

6. ຼ໑ჼჼᲮናረናሊነ, ჼᲮഛჼ ໑ჼჼᲮჇჼ~Ⴤჼჾჼዮና?		6.	When you tried to help you qui	to quit, what metho t?	od did you use
			Yes	Νο	DK/
			à	ФЪ	NR/R
() ∆64°C0∿°L ۵°N∂°L2 \02%C5℃NJC \02%C5℃NJC	a) With help from spirituality/traditional methods		١	<u>2</u>	99
Δ θ ξ (C D ζ, Q D C C D C D C C D	 b) With assistance from family/self-help or support programs 		01	2	99
C) م۹Ų₅Cݭ _۲ ٦٤ م۷ℯℯ۲۵٤	c) Nicotine patches		٦	2	99
۹٫ ۵۹٫٫٫۲٫۶ ۹٫۶۱۶	d) Nicotine gum		١	O 2	99
l) Δˤˤblˤ໑ˤ ᡤ<ི/ኣ¹Λʰኣ	e) Pills (Zyban/Champix)		٦	2	99
>4,2,2,₽ P9C7,1,2,2,₽ P9C7,1,2,2,₽ P9C7,1,2,2,1,2,2,2,2,2,2,2,2,2,2,2,2,2,2,2,	f) E-cigarette/Vapor		01	2	99
م) ھ [،] م [،] ما [،] مار مارہ کے حرک مارہ م	g) No method (cold turkey)			2	99
5) 47°l	h) Other		01	2	99

- 7. [8] <u>Δσ J⁵ J⁶ C⁵ P⁶ 12σ⁶</u>, Δ³ L^{k⁶}
 ⁶ Δ³ L³ ⁵ Δ³ L³ ⁵ ⁵
 ⁶ Δ³ L³ ⁵ ⁵
 ⁷ Δ³ ⁵ ⁵
 ⁷ Δ³ ⁵ ⁵
 ⁷ Δ³ ⁵ ⁵
 ⁷ Δ³ ⁵
 ⁷ Δ³ ⁵
 ⁷ ⁵ ⁵
 ⁷ ⁵ ⁵
 ⁷ ⁵
 ⁸
 ⁹
 <li⁹
 ⁹
 <li
 -) 1- i
 - 2- 406
 - [™]CJ%≁JFQ4/[™]CJ%≁Q4/[™]CJ%≁J4Q9[™] -66
- -) 1- ⁵6⊅CĽ°
 - 2- ⁵6≥CĹḃ́5⁵⁶
 - 🔵 3- ϤϹϷϲϪͽͽϳϲͽϧ ͶͼϲϥϤϧϲͺΓ

 - 🔵 5- ርናናዮርԼJኈኈՐጋኈ
 - _____6- __⊅ילב״∿רכ״ל

- [8] <u>In the past 12 months</u>, have you used or tried an electronic cigarette (or e-cigarette/vapor), even just a few puffs?
 - 🔵 1- Yes
 - 2- No
 - 🔵 99- DK/NR/R
- 8. [9] <u>Currently</u>, how often are you exposed to second-hand smoke in your home?
 -) 1- Every day
 - 2- Nearly every day
 - 3- Approximately once a week
 - 4- Approximately once a month
 - 5- Less than once a month
 - 6- Never
 -) 99- DK/NR/R

9. [10] ^ነ םב מחרי במטי בו ליט הליחי גר מרי בווי ליט אין אין אין גער גער גער גער גער גער גער גער אין אין אין גער גער גער גער גער גער גער גע גער גער גער גער גער גער גער גער גער גער		9. [10] How r themselve	much do you thi s when they?	nk people risk ha	rming	
		No risk ४ ^с ८৯%ጉጋ%	2-Slight risk ۹٬۲۹۴۵۲۵۲	3-Moderate risk ۹٬۲۵۰۴ و که۲۵۰۴	4-Great risk ۹٬۲۵۰۲۲۳۲۲۰	DK/ NR/R
4) >	a) Smoke cigarettes once in a while	ו 🔾	O 2	3	4	99
<)	b) Smoke cigarettes on a regular basis	1	O 2	3	4	99

۵-۵۵ م، ۲۰۶۲ م، ۲۰۶۲ م، ۲۰۵۳ م، ۲۰۵۳ ۵۰ ۵۰ ۳۰

- %C1%&JL09\%C1%&Q1\%C1%&L5%C2%
- Δι- D' Δο ~ D Λ°LC «έσ, D' «) σ' ό ιδ ~ 4' ⊾ີ⊂ີ∩ີσ?

ۥ٩؞ڹ؞ ٢٧٤٢٩، ٢٩٢٩

%C1%&JL09\%C1%&Q1\%C1%&L5%C2%

10. [11] Among the people living in your house, how many of them are smokers, including yourself if you smoke?

Number of smokers _ 99- DK/NR/R

11. [12] How many of them smoke indoors, including in the furnace room, close to an open window, under the kitchen vent, or only in certain rooms?

Number of smokers 99- DK/NR/R

ባዲሪጋ<mark>ካ የ</mark>ትግሥር ን ወ ۵.2 ΔΓ۹-۵

- ٥٥٥٠، >٫<>>، ٩٫٦٢، ٩٫٢٤، ٩٫٥٠، ٥,
- کوری ک
- יθטיפיר אישולאבר ערי אישולאבר Δביאן.

12. [13] ΔΓ - Δ¹ - ΔΓ 4 - ¹ Γ¹?

- دمأ∩ائف∆ کلال∠ ۲۲ أ -1 - 48°7464° 3.2 - 48°40° 1312°.
- دمأ∩انف کال∠ کال کا ک - 48°J4L4[®] 3.3 - 4°66, 200°
- ∿۲۲۲٫۷۵ - ⊂∽۱∪۹٫ج۷ ٫۲۲۶ 3.2 - 4∧5ė∩5 13j~°.

SECTION 3.2 ALCOHOL

Now, some questions about alcohol consumption.

When we use the word 'drink' it means:

- one bottle or can of beer. OR
- · one shooter. OR
- one drink or cocktail with 1 and a ½ ounces of liquor.
- 12. [13] Have you ever had a drink of alcohol?
 - 1- Yes Go to PS Section 3.2 Q13
 - 2- No Go to PS Section 3.3 Drugs
 - 99- DK/NR/R Go to PS Section 3.2 Q13

13. [14] <u>C⁵⁵Pσ^c</u> <u>12σ^c</u> <u>4σJ⁵Dσ^c</u>, ⁵bσ^c <u>4</u>ΩΓCL^c ΔΓ⁵b^cCσ⁵⁵P^c ΔΓ4σ²σ^c?

- ᠆᠂᠖᠔ᢗ᠘᠋᠋᠖᠖᠘᠖ᢣ᠋ᠫᠴᡠᢩ
- 🔵 2- 3-6 Δ°λσ Λωλαργαίς
- 🔵 3- ΦΟΡΤΦΎΖΕ ΙΥΡως ΛωΖΦΡΖΕΪΓ
- 🔵 4- ଏር እናለም ለምቦት 🖸 💭
- _____5- ϤϹϷϲͽΓͽ ΔΡͽσϧΓͽ ϹͽͽϷϲϳΓ
- ۵۰ ۵٬۶۲۲ ۵٬۹۳۵ ۵۰۵ ۵۰ ۵۰
 ۵۰ ۵٬۶۲۲۹ ۵۰۵ ۵۰
- €299- 3021% (27%214%) -99- 3021% 20% - دمأ∩گفک کا ۲۲° کا ۲۵° 2.3 - أ%لغ مک۵
- 14. [15] <u>CⁱⁱPP_DⁱDσ</u> 12σ^c <u>dσJⁱDσ</u>^c, ⁱb^cdσ^c ΔΓ<u>d</u>_Dⁱb^cCσⁱⁱP^c ΔΓⁱσCLⁱσ?
 - ›ج د ٦٢٤٦٢ ۲٩٦٨ ۲٠،٢٩٥٧ -1 ›ج د ٦٢٩٢ه، م ٢٠
 -) 2- 2-5 لد ٌσ، ۸۹۵ ۵-2 -2 ۲۰ ۲۰ ۲۰۲۹ - ۲۰ ۲۰ ۲۰ ۲۰
 -) 6-10 کے من ۸۹ج ۵-۲۵ کے 3- 6-10 کے من ۵-۲۶ ۲۰ ۱۹۳۰ من ۱۹۶۰ من
 - 4- 10 ▷∿טכי ∧סרי טררחסייי
 חסרי ליטזיין
- - 🔵 1- ϤϹϷィϷʹ Ϸͽυϳͽʹ ΛͼϞϤͰϞϲϳϹ
 - 🔵 2- ϤϹϷϯϤͽϞͼ ΛͼϯϤϷϯͼͺϹ
 - 3- 2-3 لد ۲۰۰ C ۱۹۶۰ C ۱۹۶۰ C ۲۰۱۶
 - 🔵 4- ΔΟΡΥΔΊΖΕ ΟΊΡΕΪΓ
 - 5- 4C Ϸ τ⁵ Δ Ρ^{*} σ \ Γ^b C⁵⁵ Ρ σ L Γ
 -) 6- د۵^۱۲۲۹۹۲
 - → 10% JEQ4\#C1% & Q4\#C1% & J4Q8

- 13. [14] <u>In the past 12 months</u>, how often did you drink alcoholic beverages?
 -) 1- Daily or almost daily
 - 2- 3-6 times a week
 -) 3- Once to 2 times a week
 - () 4- Once to 3 times a month
 - 5- Less than once a month
 - 6- Never Go to PS Section 3.3 Drugs
 - 99- DK/NR/R Go to PS Section 3.3 Drugs
- 14. [15] In the past 12 months, how many drinks did you usually have on the same occasion?
 -) 1- 1 beer or glass of wine or liquor
 - 2- 2-5 beers or glasses of wine or liquor
 - 3- 6-10 beers or glasses of wine or liquor
 - 4- More than 10 beers or glasses of wine or liquor
 - 🔵 99- DK/NR/R
- 15. [16] <u>In the past 12 months</u>, how often have you had 5 or more drinks in a row/on an occasion (same evening, same party, etc.)?
 - () 1- More than once a week
 - 2- Once a week
 - 3- 2-3 times a month
 - 4- Once a month
 - 5- Less than once a month
 - 6- Never
 -) 99- DK/NR/R

16. [17] Δ٬ΛͿϟϲϿነϟϹϗͼ ΔͿʹϲϿϹϹϠͽ·ϽϫͼϟͶͼ ΔϹϿ϶ʹͼͼʹ?	16. [17] Have you <u>ever</u> felt that you should cut down on your drinking?
 1- ₫ 2- ₫₽₽ 99- ₲₽₽L∿∿Րጋ∿/₽₽∿Րጋ∿/₽₽JL∿∿Րጋ∿ 	 1- Yes 2- No 99- DK/NR/R
17. [18] Δ □ ° σ ° < <° & Γ ½ ឞ ຳ ½ Ϲ ຳ ຳ Ρ °	 17. [18] Have people ever annoyed you by criticizing your drinking (such as, partner, children, boss, co-workers or friends)? 1- Yes 2- No 99- DK/NR/R
 18. [19] Δ/Δ² ⊂ ▷ ⊂ ▷^s / L ἀ^c ▷^v J √ / ∩ ⊃[*] σ^c ΔΓ ⁴ ⊃[*] σ σ^c? 1- ἀ 2- ◊ ▷ ▷ 99- ⁵ ▷ ▷ ▷ L ∿ ♡ Ր Ͻ [*] / ℙ ▷ ♡ ♡[*] / ℙ ▷ J L ∿ ♡ Ր Ͻ [*] 	 18. [19] Have you ever felt bad or guilty about your drinking? 1- Yes 2- No 99- DK/NR/R
19. [20] ΔΓ4	 19. [20] Have you <u>ever</u> had a drink first thing in the morning to steady your nerves or get rid of a hangover? 1- Yes 2- No 99- DK/NR/R
 20. [21] Δ64'CD Π ι/ ε δ' / L ά' L Γ \' \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \	 20. [21] Have you <u>ever</u> sought any help or treatment for your alcohol or drug use? Include self-help groups and professionals such as doctors, nurses or counselors? 1- Yes 2- No 99- DK/NR/R

- 21. [21N] ላ σ Ϳ ነጋ σ ና ር ነኘ የ σ ና 12 σ , ነ ካ ሬ ጎ ግ በ ۲ ር L ና לכרב_י/יָפָר), רוָלבי, שכּיָפּלאָ, אַלעַביּ) ۹٫۹٫۶٫۳۲٬۶۵ ۷٫۶٫۶۳۷ ۹٫۶٬۲۲٬۶۳
 - 1- 4Γζδ^cζσ
 - 2- ८४८₽°८८°°00°
 - 3- _⊅°7L∿∿Րጋ⁵
 - 4- 4⁵d[°]σ[°]C⁵⁵C⁵⁵Pσ^c 12σ^c 4σJ⁵Dσ^c
 - 99- ¹607L%% በጋ%-60%% በ2%-60%

21. [21N] In the past 12 months, how often did you drive a vehicle (e.g. snowmobile, ATV (4-wheeler/Honda), dirt bike, car, truck) while under the influence of drugs or alcohol?

- 1- Often
- Rarely
- 3- Never
- 4- I did not drive in the past 12 months
- 99- DK/NR/R

۵۵٬**۲۲**۵۰۲ 3.3 מֹ∿נוֹ² ב⊃∆^י

ឞϷϒͿLϞͿና ໑ོϲϽΔ៓໑៓Γ៓៰ና Ϸϭϭ៓Ⴑ ἀঁ୯ເἐ້໑Ͻ៰ና We would like to know if you have used any of the

ΥιΡΟΡΙΑΥΑία, **Δ**. **Δ**. **Ρ**. **Δ**. **Ρ**. **Δ**. **Ρ**. **Δ**. **ΓΟ**. **ΓΟ**

αΛιίΠρηιζι Δειβερικι άριβεσος, βεΛι (cannabis) רַלָּהָאָלָרָאָרָי, (marijuana), יֹשׁ (Valium), גיאסעיי (barbiturates), אין (cocaine), **narcotics like heroin**. יאי (speed), גישע יאי (גיטי), אייש, איי ເປີດເພາຍເອງປີ (ປີເວັດເອງ ປີປີເປັນ) لهeroin). ۲۹۵٬ (۵٬۹۵۲ د ۹٬۹۵۲)، ۱۹۶۵ که و کې د ۷٬۹

DRUGS

SECTION 3.3

The word "drugs" include prescribed or over-the-counter medications used in excess of the medical directives.

The following questions will also include cannabis also known as marijuana, hash, weed, as well as solvents such (▷ʿɔ̃∩「ച」 ⴰⴷⵔདི), ┌デᡆ⊃᠘ˤ (▷ʿɔ̀∩「ച」 ぐっᡧ stimulants such as speed, hallucinogens such as LSD or

- - دمأ∩ائف∆ ^۲لالم ۲[°] ↓ -1 - 48°74645 3.3 - 48570 23j~°
 - دمأ∩ائف∆ ۲۲٬۵۲۲ ماک 2-- 48°7764% 3.3 - 48°70° 291°°
 - %CJ%%JLQ9/%CJ%%G9/%CJ%%J4QJ% ∿۲۲۲۵٬۵۵ - دما∩۹ف۵ ۲۲۲۶ ۲۷ 3.3 - ଏ∧⁵ở∩⁵ 23ൎപ⊂
- 22. In your lifetime, have you ever used drugs?
 - 1- Yes Go to PS Section 3.3 Q23
 - 2- No Go to PS Section 3.3. Q29
 - 99- DK/NR/R Go to PS Section 3.3 Q23

- 23. <u>C⁵</u>⁶P_σ^c 12σ^c 4σJ⁵⊃σ^c</u>, Λ²LÅ^c
 Δ^c⊃S⁵¹LÅ⁻⊃σ^c Γ^c (weed), ζⁱ^c (pot), L_αJ4_α
 (marijuana) J⁵ⁱ (grass) δ^c σ²σ^c ⁱbⁱτⁱ (hashish)?

 - 2- 4CD7457 L22%
 - 🔵 3- 3-11 ላፊ°ም°ቦ°ም ላ°ናJლĹΓ
 - 4- ΔΟΡΥΔΊΥΞ ΟΊΥΞΙΓ
 - 5- 2-3-& לה כייף בוד

 -) 7- 3-4 μεδ^ιζσ Λαζάργς[Γ
 -) 8- ٬۵۵CL٬ ٬۵۵CL۵٬ ۵۰
 - NCJ&&JLQA\#CJ&&GA\#CJ%&J4QJ
- 24. [24N] <u>Δ ώτ'</u>σ, ἀ[°]\b', σ δ[°]\b', σ δ[°]\b', δ[°], δ[°]
 - 1-
 - 2- 406
 - 99- ¹607L%%C)¹/P0%%C)¹/P0JL%%C)¹
- [25N] <u>C⁵⁵Pσ^c</u> 12σ^c 4σJ⁵Dσ^c</u>, Λ^{*}σ⁵P^c
 δ^cJ⁴Π²σ^c Δ⁵⁵b⁵C⁵J⁴σ^c δ⁶C²σ⁵σ^c
 σ^bA 4^x⁴l^c Λ⁵b⁵J⁵D⁵ δ^cD⁵C²D⁵D⁵D⁵
 dⁱσ⁴d²P²D⁵C⁵D⁵ δ^cD¹D²J C²σ⁴
 (Valium), 4ⁿC⁶ (Ativan), ⁴4^{b⁵} (Xanax), ^cC²
 (Ritalin), ^bd²C (Concerta), ⁿC²D^c (Dilaudid), ^{dⁿ} (Codeine), ^{dⁱd⁴d¹} (Oxycontin) ^{b⁶C²σ⁵σ⁵}
 - () 1- i
 -) 2- AD6
 - 99- ₺₽₽L%%Cጋ%/PD%%CD%/PDJL%%CD%

- 23. <u>In the past 12 months</u>, have you used or tried weed, pot, marijuana, grass or hashish?
 - 1- Never
 2- Once or twice
 3- 3 to 11 times a year
 4- About once a month
 5- 2 or 3 times a month
 6- About once or twice a week
 7- 3 to 4 times a week
 8- Daily or almost daily
 99- DK/NR/R
- 24. [24N] <u>In your lifetime</u>, have you tried to get high by sniffing glue, gasoline, propane, or any other solvent?
 - 1- Yes
 2- No
 99- DK/NR/R
- 25. [25N] In the past 12 months, have you used or tried prescribed or over-the-counter medications in excess of the directions and any non-medical use such as Valium, Ativan, Xanax, Ritalin, Concerta, Dilaudid, Codeine, Oxycontin or Purple drank?
 - 1- Yes
 2- No
 99- DK/NR/R

- - 1- ₫

 - >99- ٤٥٦٤٤٤٤
 >۶۹- ٤٤٦٤٤٤
 >۶۹- ٤٤٦٤٤
 >٥٤٠ ٥٩٠٤٤٤
 >٥٤٠٤٤٤٤
 >٥٤٠٤٤٤٤
 >٥٤٠٤٤٤٤
 >٥٤٠٤٤٤٤
 >٥٤٠٤٤٤٤
 >٥٤٠٤٤٤٤
 >٥٤٠٤٤٤٤
 >٥٤٠٤٤٤٤
 >٥٤٠٤٤٤٤
- 27. ﴿حَانَى حَدْ كَنَوْ حَنْنَا حَدْ اللَّحَةُ 27. ﴿حَانَى حَدْ اللَّحَةُ حَدَّ الْحَدَةُ حَدْ الْحَدْ الْحَدْ أَنْ تَكْرَا الْحَدْ اللَّهُ عَنْ حَدْ اللَّهُ عَنْ حَدْ اللَّعْ عَنْ عَانَ الْحَدْ الْحَدْ الْحَدْ الْحَدْ ال

- 26. [24] Have you used other drugs in the past 12 months?
 -] 1- Yes
 - 2- No Go to PS Section 3.3. Q28 If No or 99 to all Q23-Q24-Q25 go to Q29
 - 99- DK/NR/R Go to PS Section 3.3. Q28 If No or 99 to all Q23-Q24-Q25 go to Q29
- 27. In the past 12 months, have you used or tried:

	Yes	Νο	DK/
	à	٩рр	NR/R
 ٩) [27] JP[*] トロンコト ۵) [27] cocaine such ۵⁺, イーン, イト トペペーン・ ۵) [27] cocaine such as coke, snow, crack or freebase? 		<u>2</u>	99
〈)[28] Δ ^b Cr D ^c ついつJ b) [28] ecstasy such as E, XTC or X? as E, XTC or X?	١	2	99
 C) [29] amphetamine/ methamphetamines such as speed, peanut, crystal, meth, or ice? c) [29] amphetamine/ methamphetamines such as speed, peanut, crystal, meth, or ice? 	1	2	99
b) [30] Cd مد الح b) [30] Cd مد b) [30] Cd مد b) [30] hallucinogens b) (c) ר _ J PCP, LSD, acid, mushrooms, or mescaline? b) [30] hallucinogens such as PCP, LSD, acid, mushrooms, or mescaline? b) [30] hallucinogens such as PCP, LSD, acid, mushrooms, or mescaline?	01	2	99
L) [31] PPA e) [31] heroin (`L', ปาบั`')? (smack, crank)?	١	2	99
L) [33] ຢ່>∩ໍ ຈໍ່∿ປ່ະ ັດວິດເ? f) [33] injection drugs? ຈ) [27A] ຈົາເ≺ເ, ຢ່>∩ດເ ບໍ່ເ√ເາດເ ຈວງຍເດດເທງເ? ຈວງຍເດດເທງເ? ຄ) [27A] if yes, have you shared needles?	01	2	99

8. أَنْكَ مَـ كَتْحَاتَ كَمَاتَ مَـ <u>كَتْحَاتَ مَ</u> 12م ⁻ مَوَاتَكَمَ ⁻ :		 Referring to your drug use in the past 12 months: 		
		Yes र्व	No add	DK/ NR/R
٥) ٥٥٢٥٥ ٥ ٥٤ ٥ ٥ ٥ ٥ ٥ ٥ ٥ ٥ ٥ ٥ ٥ ٥ ٥ ٥ ٥ ٥	a) Do you use more than one drug at a time?	١	<u>2</u>	99
<) ه٥٠٤٤٢ - ٢٠ - ٢٠ - ٢٠ - ٢٠ - ٢٠ ١٩٦٢ - ٢٠٢٢٢٢ - ٢٠٢٢٢٢٢ ١٩٦٢ - ٢٠٢٢٢٢٢٢	b) Are you always able to stop using drugs when you want to?	۱	O 2	99
・ ・ ・ ・ ・ ・ ・ ・ ・ ・ ・ ・ ・ ・	c) Have you had "blackouts" or "flashbacks" as a result of drug use?	ו	02	99
٥) ۵۲۵٬۵۲۷۵۵۵ ۵۴۵۷٬۵۵٬۶۲۵ ف ^۲ ۵۶٬۵۵٬۵۰۶ ۵۴۵۶٬۵۲۶ ف ^۲ ۵۶٬۵۰۶	d) Do you ever feel bad or guilty about your drug use?	١	2	99
נ) ∇‹Vʿ ∢∿נלינׂחʿשָּׂׂׂׂׂ בּ'נַגַיָּאירָאבּיֹרְנַלְי וֹ∿נִגָּיבַסַיֹסָהּיַהַי?	e) Do your partner or parents ever complain about your involvement with drugs?	ו 🔾	O 2	99
L) ۵ ۵ ۳ ۵ ^۰ ۵ ۵ ۸ ۳ ۵۰ ۵۰ أَمُلُغُ مَنْ ٢ ٢ ٢ ٢ ٢ ٢ ٢ ٢ ٢ ٢ ٢ ٢ ٢ ٢ ٢ ٢ ٢ ٢ ٢	f) Have you neglected your family because of your use of drugs?	ו	O 2	99
ͼ) Λ;ϥϡϫͼͺʹϞͽϥͲͼͺͶϲͺ ϭ;ͼϳϧͼͻͻ;ϛϳϞͺϲͶϲͺϳ	g) Have you engaged in illegal activities in order to obtain drugs?	ו	02	99
Ϛ) ἀϞυἐ΅ϫϽΔΡ ^ϵ Ϥϲ ΠΓ΄ ΖʹϚϲϪͽϔΖϤϚ (ʹϞϭϫʹϤϭ·ͽ) ἀϞυἐ΅ϫϽσͼ ΛͿ΅ϭϹϤϚϪʹ?	 h) Have you ever experienced withdrawal symptoms (felt sick) when you stopped taking drugs? 		2	99
ϲ) ἀིᠳϤϚϓϹϪϤ ἀ∿ϋἐ·ϲϽϚϽϒϹϭͿʹϼϚ (ϷϚϽϚϒͻͿ, ϤϷϲʹϷϚͽ, ͽϒϒͶϚ, ͼϷϚϟϭͽ, ϤϷϫʹϭ·ͽ, ϤϒͽϚʹͻϨ	 i) Have you had medical problems as a result of your drug use (e.g., memory loss, hepatitis, convulsions, bleeding, etc.)? 	01	2	99

- 29. [298] ¹6ס מיר מיר מיר מיר מיר מיר מיר מיר מיר ארי אר די אלין אר געער ארין ארי איר מיד מיד איר מיד געער ארי איר מיד געיר איר מיד געער איר מיד געער איר מיד געער איר מיד געער איר איר איר מיד געער איר איר איר איר איר איר א
 - _____1-__ላ℃__∿∿Րጋ∿
 -) 2- √℃ دلند∧℃ ۲۵
 - <u>)</u> 3- ४४°६५°Г° ४°Сс५२७%
 - 4- √(د)L ...
 - 5- ₺₽₽L₻₻Cጋ₻/₽₽₻Cጋ₻/₽₽JL₻₻Cጋ₻

- 29. [29N] How much do you think people risk harming themselves when they smoke weed, marijuana or cannabis on a regular basis?
 -) 1- No risk
 - 2- Slight risk
 - 3- Moderate risk
 - 4- Great risk
 -) 5- DK/NR/R

APPENDIX B ADDITIONAL RESULTS

Table A Tobacco smoking status by sociocultural factors (%), Nunavik, 2017

	Daily	Occasional	Non-smoker
Total	71.6	7.9	20.5
Cultural identity			
Top 30 percentiles	70.4	7.0*	22.6
Other	72.4	8.3	19.3
Frequency of going on land			
Often	68.4	8.8	22.7
Occasionally or never	73.8	7.3	18.9
Sedentary time			
7 hours or less	71.2	7.8	20.0
More than 7 hours	69.5	7.9*	22.6
Social support			
Three or four types	70.0	6.6*	23.5
None to two	71.6	8.5	19.9
Family cohesion			
Top 30 percentiles	70.0	7.6*	22.5
Other	72.2	8.1	19.7
Community cohesion			
Top 30 percentiles	76.0 ¹	6.4*	17.6
Other	69.0	8.9	22.1
Involvement in community activities			
Always or often	67.6 ¹	8.0*	24.4 ¹
Other	74.4	7.8	17.8
Participation in activities promoting healing and wellness			
Yes	67.0	10.7*	22.3
No	73.3	6.8	19.9

NOTES

Coloured cells indicate statistically significant comparisons.

1. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the other group.

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully.

Table BNumber of cigarettes smoked by daily smokers, by sociodemographic factors (%),
population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017

	1-10	11-24	25 or more
Total	47.5	41.2	11.4
Sex			
Men	36.4 ¹	47.7 ¹	15.9 ¹
Women	58.0	35.0	7.1*
Age group			
Men			
16-20 years	56.4	32.8*	10.7**
21-30 years	49.2	34.4	16.4*
31-54 years	22.1 ²	58.9 ^{2,3}	19.1*
55 years and over	33.2 ^{*2,3}	55.9 ^{2,3}	10.9**
Women			
16-20 years	67.4	23.2*	9.4**
21-30 years	62.7	31.5	5.9**
31-54 years	54.7 ³	39.4 ²	5.9**
55 years and over	44.7 ^{2,3}	44.9 ^{2,3}	10.4**
Marital status			
Single	52.4	34.5	13.1*
Married or common law	44.6 ⁴	45.0 ⁴	10.4*
Separated, divorced or widowed	32.9 ^{*4}	NP	NP
Education			
Elementary school or less	31.9*	50.1	18.0
Secondary school not completed	47.9	40.2	11.9
Secondary school or higher	50.5	40.8	8.7**
Employment			
Employed	49.4	40.1	10.5
Not employed	43.4	43.2	13.4*
Income			
Less than \$20 000	49.9	36.6 ¹	13.5*
\$20 000 or more	44.8	46.4	8.9*
Community size			
Large	44.0	43.0	13.0
Small	52.2	38.7	9.1*
Coast			
Hudson	41.3 ¹	45.6	13.1
Ungava	57.3	34.2	8.6*

NOTES

Coloured cells indicate statistically significant comparisons.

1. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the other group.

2. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 16 - 20 age group.

3. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 21-30 age group.

4. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to single Nunavimmiut.

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully.

** The coefficient of variation is greater than 25%. The proportion is shown for information only.

NP: Data not presented due to small number of respondents.

Table CIndoor and passive smoking in the house, by sociodemographic factors (%),
population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017

	Passive smoking			
	Indoor smoking ¹	More than	Once a week	Neuror
	SITIOKINg	once a week	or less	Never
Total	29.4	27.3	10.9	61.8
Sex				
Men	34.2 ²	30.5 ²	14.3 ²	55.2 ²
Women	24.5	24.1	7.5	68.4
Age group				
Men				
16-20 years	25.2	28.7*	20.7*	50.6
21-30 years	37.4*	28.2*	12.3*	58.6
31-54 years	35.9	32.3	11.6*	56.1
55 years and over	38.5	31.7	15.0*	53.3
Women				
16-20 years	26.3	27.7 ³	6.4**	65.9
21-30 years	24.0*	17.0	7.4*	75.6 ⁴
31-54 years	21.7	25.0 ³	5.9*4	69.0 ⁴
55 years and over	31.0	30.4 ³	12.9*	56.7
Marital status				
Single	34.9	31.9 ⁶	13.4 ⁶	54.8 ⁶
Married or common law	24.9 ⁵	22.8	8.5	68.7
Separated, divorced or widowed	30.1*	36.3* ⁶	15.9**	47.7 ⁶
Education				
Elementary school or less	32.8	44.8 ^{7,8}	17.6*	37.6 ^{7,8}
Secondary school not completed	30.0	28.6 ⁷	10.3	61.1 ⁷
Secondary school or higher	27.2	18.5	10.3*	71.2
Employment				
Employed	27.9	26.5	11.1	62.4
Not employed	31.9	290	10.7*	60.3
Income				
Less than \$20 000	33.0 ²	35.2 ²	9.6	55.2 ²
\$20 000 or more	24.2	18.7	12.3	68.9
Coast				
Hudson	26.3 ²	28.9	10.3	60.7
Ungava	34.8	25.2	11.7	63.1
Community size				
Large	27.6	26.5	8.9 ²	64.6 ²
Small	32.2	28.4	13.7	57.9

NOTES

Coloured cells indicate statistically significant comparisons.

1. Among current daily and occasional smokers only.

2. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the other group.

3. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 21-30 age group.

4. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 55 and over age group.

5. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to single Nunavimmiut.

6. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to married or common law Nunavimmiut.

- 7. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to Nunavimmiut who had attended but not completed secondary school.
- 8. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to Nunavimmiut who had completed secondary school or higher.

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully.

** The coefficient of variation is greater than 25%. The proportion is shown for information only.

	Monthly	Weekly binge	Potential problem
	drinking	drinking	drinking ¹
Total	63.0	29.4	68.5
Cultural identity			
Top 30 percentiles	58.6	30.8	71.2
Other	64.9	29.0	67.4
Frequency of going on land			
Often	58.6 ²	27.5	69.4
Occasionally or never	66.6	31.0	67.5
Sedentary time			
7 hours or less	57.9 ²	26.9	68.7
More than 7 hours	72.4	33.3	67.2
Social support			
Three or four types	67.5	33.2	76.0 ²
None to two	61.0	27.8	66.7
Family cohesion			
Top 30 percentiles	61.4	28.2	66.0
Other	63.5	30.0	69.7
Community cohesion			
Top 30 percentiles	62.2	32.0	69.2
Other	63.5	28.2	68.4
Involvement in community activities			
Always or often	59.4	29.0	67.9
Other	65.4	29.7	68.9
Participation in healing and wellness activities			
Yes	62.2	28.5	68.0
No	63.2	29.8	68.7

 Table D
 Monthly alcohol drinking, weekly binge drinking and potential problem drinking, by sociocultural factors (%), Nunavik, 2017

NOTES

Coloured cells indicate statistically significant comparisons.

1. CAGE score of 2 or more, among Nunavimmiut who had drunk alcohol in the year preceding the survey.

2. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the other group.

Table ELifetime drug use, lifetime glue, gasoline or other solvent use and potential drug abuse problemin the past year (%), by sociodemographic factors, population aged 16 years and over, Nunavik, 2017

	Lifetime drug use	Lifetime glue, gasoline or other solvent use	Potential drug abuse problem ¹
Total	85.0	29.3	31.8
Sex			
Men	89.2 ²	36.1 ²	32.9
Women	80.7	22.4	30.2
Age group			
Men			
16-20 years	80.8	12.3**	39.3 ^{*4}
21-30 years	93.8 ^{3,4}	29.9 ^{*3,4,5}	41.4 ⁴
31-54 years	93.7 ^{3,4}	46.3 ^{3,4}	30.7 ⁴
55 years and over	81.9	47.0	16.2**
Women			
16-20 years	81.1 ⁴	10.1*	44.0
21-30 years	88.4 ^{3,4,5}	24.3 ³	32.5 ^{3,5}
31-54 years	80.6 ⁴	26.7 ³	21.7*
55 years and over	68.4	20.2 ^{*3}	26.0**
Marital status			
Single	84.7	27.0	40.1
Married or common law	85.9	30.7	23.4 ⁷
Separated, divorced or widowed	78.1	32.3*	29.4*
Education			
Elementary school or less	75.2	32.0	38.7 ^{*8}
Secondary school not completed	85.4 ⁶	30.8	35.3 ⁸
Secondary school or higher	88.7 ⁶	25.9	21.5*
Employment			
Employed	86.5	30.3	29.6
Not employed	82.3	27.2	36.1
Income			
Less than \$20 000	82.4 ²	25.4 ²	38.4 ²
\$20 000 or more	88.4	33.0	19.7
Community size			
Large	84.6	27.8	32.6
Small	85.5	31.3	30.7
Coast			
Hudson	83.7	34.7 ²	28.3 ²
Ungava	86.7	22.2	36.0

Coloured cells indicate statistically significant comparisons.

Among those who have used drugs in their lifetime. • 2. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the other group. • 3. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 16-20 age group. • 4. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 55 and over age group. •
 Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 31-54 age group. • 6. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the 31-54 age group. • 6. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to nunavimmit who had attended or completed elementary school only. •
 Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to single Nunavimmiut. • 8. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to Nunavimmiut who had completed secondary school or higher.

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully.

** The coefficient of variation is greater than 25%. The proportion is shown for information only.

 Table F
 Cannabis use and potential drug abuse problem in the past year, by sociocultural factors (%), Nunavik, 2017

	Cannabis use	Potential drug abuse problem ¹
Total	63.5	
Cultural identity		
Top 30 percentiles	58.3 ²	29.8
Other	65.9	32.6
Frequency of going on land		
Often	59.3 ²	29.7
Occasionally or never	66.8	33.1
Sedentary time		
7 hours or less	64.7	32.8
More than 7 hours	61.2	28.2
Social support		
Three or four types	58.2 ²	30.6
None to two	65.2	34.0
Family cohesion		
Top 30 percentiles	56.2 ²	24.4 ²
Other	66.7	34.5
Community cohesion		
Top 30 percentiles	64.6	29.9
Other	63.0	32.7
Involvement in community activities		
Always or often	55.7 ²	29.2
Other	68.7	33.2
Participation in healing and wellness activities		
Yes	64.3	35.5
No	63.2	29.7

NOTES

Coloured cells indicate statistically significant comparisons.

1. Among people who have used drugs in their lifetime.

2. Statistically significant difference observed using the 5% threshold compared to the other group.

* The coefficient of variation is greater than 15% and lower than or equal to 25%. The proportion should be interpreted carefully.

** The coefficient of variation is greater than 25%. The proportion is shown for information only.

